
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Chief Executive 

Phil Drury 
MCIAT, ACIOB 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

LB/COUNCIL/AG 

Please ask for: Lorraine Bush, Democratic Services Manager 
 
11 January 2019 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL - 21 JANUARY 2019 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Council on Monday, 21st January, 2019 in the 
Council Chamber, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR at 6.30 pm 
 
Although it is not a formal part of this Summons or the business of the meeting, the 
Mayor’s Chaplain will lead prayers immediately prior to the meeting. 

 

 
PHIL DRURY 
Chief Executive 
 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A.   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 12) 
 

 To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting, held on 26th November 2018. 
 

B.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

C.   COMMUNICATIONS  
 

 To receive communications (if any) from the Mayor and the Chief Executive 
 

Public Document Pack



D.   DEPUTATIONS AND PETITIONS  
 

 To receive deputations or petitions (if any) pursuant to Rules 12 and 13 of the 
Council’s Rules of Procedure 
 

E.   QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS  
 

 To answer questions (if any) from elected members pursuant to Rule 11 of the 
Council’s Rules of Procedure 
 

F.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

 To answer questions (if any) from members of the public pursuant to Rule 10 of 
the Council’s Rules of Procedure  
 

G.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 To receive declarations by Members of any interests in respect of items on the 
agenda 
 

 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME (Pages 13 - 18) 
 

 (A Report By the Council Tax and Benefits Manager) 
 

2   AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES (Pages 19 - 26) 
 

 (To receive the confirmed minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee held on 12 November 2018) 
 

3   REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES (Pages 27 - 60) 
 

 (A report by the Returning Officer) 
 

4   MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT ARRANGEMENTS (Pages 61 - 108) 
 

 (A report by the Monitoring Officer) 
 
 

Questions from Members of the Council and the public must be received by 5 p.m. two 
clear working days prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this meeting is 

5 p.m. on Wednesday 16 January 2019 
 

 

 
 
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except during the 
consideration of exempt of confidential items. 

 

Please note this meeting may be subject to being recorded.  
 



 
 
 

 

Emergency Procedures 
In the event of a fire alarm sounding all attendees are asked to leave the building via the 

nearest emergency exit and make their way to the Fire Assembly Point located in the car park 
at the rear of the Municipal Buildings. 

 

 
 
 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston Telephone 01205 314224  e-mail 
lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk 



This page is intentionally left blank



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
At the meeting of Boston Borough Council held in the Council Chamber, Municipal 
Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR, on Monday, 26th November, 2018 at 6.30 
pm 
 
Present: 
The Mayor (Councillor Judith Skinner), in the Chair 
Councillors Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Richard Austin, Stephen Ball, Peter Bedford, 
Michael Brookes, Colin Brotherton, David Brown, Michael Cooper, Anton Dani, 
Viven Edge, James Edwards, Dr Gordon Gregory, Martin Griggs, Jonathan Noble, 
Barrie Pierpoint, Elizabeth Ransome, Sue Ransome, Stephen Raven, Brian Rush, 
Claire Rylott, Paul Skinner, Aaron Spencer, Yvonne Stevens, Nigel Welton and 
Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Officers –  
Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer, Democratic Services 
Manager and Chief Finance Officer 
 
19   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 9 July 2018 were taken as read and 
signed by the Mayor as a correct record 
 
20   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ben Evans, Paul Gleeson and 
Felicity Ransome. 
 
21   COMMUNICATIONS 

 
The Chief Executive confirmed that the Conservative Group had changed its substitute 
Member for the Planning Committee, with Councillor Tom Ashton replacing Councillor 
Colin Brotherton.  
 
The Mayor offered the Council’s congratulations to the Boston in Bloom Team for their 
tremendous success at the recent awards.  This was an outstanding achievement for 
the town, which would not have been possible without the hard work of everyone 
involved and they were to be commended for their efforts.  
 
22   DEPUTATIONS AND PETITIONS 

 
The Chief Executive reported there were no deputations or petitions 
 
23   QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS 

 
The Chief Executive reported that there were two questions from Councillor Dani, three 
questions from Councillor Rush, and one question from Councillor Noble. 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item A.



Question asked by Councillor Anton Dani pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“From the challenges and opportunities arising from Brexit, does the BBC have a 
strategy to develop the local employment skills to cover the need of labour in farming 
and other industrial areas?” 
 
Response by Councillor Cooper  
 
“Earlier in the year the Lincolnshire Councils supported work undertaken by the Greater 
Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership in commissioning some economic analysis of 
the potential impacts of Brexit for Greater Lincolnshire. The study looked at nine key 
employment sectors including food processing and agriculture. I am pleased to report 
that the Business Lincolnshire Board, the Employment and Skills Board, the Innovation 
Council and Local Enterprise Partnership Team have collectively taken on board the 
findings and integrated them into their work. These potential scenarios form part of the 
emerging Local Industrial Strategy and Strategic Economic Plan which will support 
employment and skills in Boston and across the County.   
 
In addition I have undertaken a significant amount of engagement with local businesses 
around Brexit with a focus on skills and employment in particular. The larger employers 
are each citing challenges in recruitment at all levels. In response some of the work we 
do includes:- 
 

 continuing to work closely with Boston College and businesses encouraging the 
take up of apprenticeships  

 supporting the University of Lincoln on expanding automation of the 
manufacturing process and the re-skilling of employees  

 recognising the lack of STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths) 
exposure as a serious concern by taking an innovative and pro-active lead in the 
Primary Engineer project seeking to inspire the next generation engineers across 
all 3 tiers of the education system 

 
Finally Cllr Dani will be aware of the 2017 EU citizen’s rights agreement and subsequent 
EU Settlement Scheme which allows EU citizens to remain in the UK. Boston’s officers 
are engaged in ongoing discussions with the Home Office about the formal launch and 
will be promoting the scheme to our residents when registration is formally opened.”   
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Dani pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:-  
 
Thank you for the explanation. The government insists after Brexit only skilled labour will 
be allowed to enter the UK and only when needed.  How will the lack of manual farm 
labour to support the major industry in the region be dealt with? 
 
Response by Councillor Cooper 
 
The work done so far has shown there should be sufficient workers in the area, and 
there would be no pressure on EU citizens to return to their home countries.  The 
transient population means some will return, but the estimates show there will still be 
sufficient to service the need. 

Page 2



Full Council 
26 November 2018 

 

 
 

 
Question asked by Councillor Anton Dani pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Almost half of all councils will no longer receive any support Grant funding next year 
from central government and as we all know our little Town has grown demographically. 
Is the BBC ready to face LCC for more funds to support basic services as care for our 
elderly and disabled?” 
 

Response by Councillor Spencer 
 
“The changes in the funding regime for councils up and down the country mean that 
grant funding is being replaced by the ability to retain a portion of business rates locally. 
The Government is currently undertaking a review of how it allocates resources between 
councils, and the Spending Review planned for 2019 will set out the overall national 
spending plans for the coming years. The Government is already incentivising councils 
by enabling resources to be retained following growth locally, and this Council is 
continuing its efforts to attract and retain businesses. 
  
Through the Better Care Fund, increased monies are available to support disabled 
adaptations.  
 
We continue to work with our elected representatives on the county council to deliver the 
best outcome for Boston, albeit within the context of increasing demands and reducing 
resources. 
 
The structure of Local Government, and its funding, is such that, in Lincolnshire, the 
different tiers are each responsible for particular functions (for example, LCC deal with 
highways, children’s services and adult social care; BBC is responsible for waste 
collection, planning and elections; and parishes are responsible for local services). 
Whilst BBC collects all the council tax due for this area, it does so on behalf of the 
county council and parishes, and is required to pass over their monies to them. How 
these are then spent are decided by each body, and any representations in respect of 
how monies are allocated should be made to the council responsible for the service in 
question.’’ 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Dani pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:-  
 
For future reference, can you give an assurance that efforts will be made to try for more 
funding for our services? 
 
Response by Councillor Spencer 
 
Yes, we fight for the best funding for the area.  This is an issue which affects all tiers of 
local government regardless of political group, and I thank you for bringing it to public 
light.  We will continue to work together to lobby central government for increased 
funding to build resilience in the services. 
 
Question asked by Councillor Brian Rush pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 

Page 3



 
“In response to a question from a resident of my Staniland Ward, will you please confirm 
and justify the marking out of those spaces within the Municipal Buildings car park for 
Councillors and Officers.  Indeed it would be interesting to know what accommodation 
has been made to accommodate DWP within the car park. 
 
Would it not be an act of public service decency to revert this facility back to a public car 
park for visiting members of the public and also those who are the main users of both 
these public service providers?”  
 
Response by Councillor Welton  
 
“The Municipal Buildings car park is only available for public parking at weekends and 
Bank Holidays. The DWP occupancy of this building does not provide for any parking 
concessions. There are 5 privately-run and Council-run ‘public’ carparks in close 
proximity to the Municipal Buildings as well as the ‘on street’ parking in West Street.”  
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Rush pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:-  
 
“I am glad to hear the DWP are not entitled to free parking.  Don’t you  agree, given the 
nature of both social directed services and care for the public, it would not be 
unreasonable for Officers and part-time Councillors to find parking spaces near to the 
offices and pay just as ratepayers do?” 
 
Response by Councillor Welton 
 
“When we run out of spaces, we may need to look at this.  On busy days such as 
Wednesday and Saturday market days, there are still spaces available in the car parks.  
Our employees use their vehicles for work purposes and have the right to recoup costs, 
as do councillors, so until this changes, this is the simple solution.  The Municipal 
Buildings car park is not a public car park during office hours.”  
 
Question asked by Councillor Jonathan Noble pursuant to paragraph 11 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
'What steps have the Council already taken, and are currently taking, to encourage 
inward investment in Boston?' 
 
Response by Councillor Cooper 
 
“I could simply respond by listing each one of the huge number of projects and inward 
investment sum secured over the last three years.   
 
I could mention the £40 million contribution from a national registered housing provider 
in delivering over 342 units of affordable rented and shared ownership homes in 
partnership with the Borough Council.   
 
Then there is the £1.4 million from Government to support initiatives to mitigate the 
impact of population change, the largest single award nationally to date.  
 

Page 4



Full Council 
26 November 2018 

 

 
 

I could mention the lobbying and efforts leading up to and during the Public Inquiry to 
secure delivery of the £100 million Boston Barrier.  I could mention the excellent 
achievement of our college in its delivery of a multi-million Engineering Manufacturing 
and Training Centre. 
 
Then there is the £8.5 million of marginal viability and the GLLEP funding to ensure an 
exciting mixed use development and the first stage of the Boston distributor road 
network, helping to deliver more homes in recent times than any other Council in 
Lincolnshire as well as drawing down some £20 million in private sector investment in 
the last location alone. 
 
I could refer to the several millions in heritage match funding delivering the Townscape 
Heritage Fund project.  A good example of private sector interest would be to make 
mention of the international company moving here on to a huge rural vacant brownfield 
site and their £5 million investment and job creation as a result. 
 
I could go on and on, but in the interests of time, could I suggest that Members view the 
bespoke ‘Think Boston’ website launched earlier in the year.  This tool, developed by 
this Council, provides a comprehensive portfolio of advice and information to business to 
help them to start, grow and invest in our Borough. 
 
Members might also want to have a look at our economic development delivery plan 
scrutinised by Members and adopted by Cabinet earlier last year with its ambitious 
programme of activity supporting new and existing business, securing a sound platform 
for continued economic growth.  An extract from the plan shows that the Borough has 
seen significant progress over the last two years with business investment in excess of 
£60 million, and this figure doesn’t even include the housing investment!  This 
investment has seen job growth in excess of 200 and a rise in Gross Value Added of 
goods and services provided locally over this two year period such that it now stands at 
£1.4 billion.  Data drawn from the Office of National Statistics has seen a net increase of 
116 new businesses over this same period. 
 
The devastating news regarding Fogarty over recent weeks reminds us that commerce, 
industry and the economy remains fragile nationally and for that reason alone, we at the 
Council will continue to work collaboratively to create the best possible conditions for 
business success, job creation and increased productivity. 
 
The Council’s economic plan is programmed for further input and review at the 
scheduled January scrutiny meeting and I would encourage all Members to take an 
interest in its continued development and success.”  
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Noble pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:-  
 
“There is a proposal to develop an Alternative Energy Facility in Boston, what steps has 
the Council taken to promote this, how many jobs will it create and how many homes will 
it provide power to?” 
 
Response by Councillor Cooper  
 

Page 5



“The facility will output 103MW of electricity using household refuse to create power.  
The materials will be brought by sea and a new wharf is being built to accommodate it.  
Around 400 workers will be employed in the construction phase and 100 when it is up 
and running.  It will create power for approximately 75% of homes in Lincolnshire, as 
there is a shortage of power in the area currently the facility will relieve the situation.  
The project is currently in the consultation phase and the application will be determined 
by the Secretary of State, in a similar process to that undertaken for the Boston Barrier 
project.”  
 
Question asked by Councillor Brian Rush pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 

“According to a freedom of information request made by me on the 9th October, it is 
stated that this council operates a concessionary scheme, for "what I referred to, as the 
council car park" and we were told that this scheme, had been in operation for three 
months. 
 
Please inform us, whose decision it was to request such a concession, and what level of 
consultation, took place, to ratify that decision, and who took part in that consultation 
process?” 
 
Response by Councillor Welton  
 
“The Council has no record of a FOI request from Councillor Rush received on this 
date.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Rush pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:-  
 
“There is and has been concessionary rates in the car park.  There should be no 
concessions in any of the Borough Council car parks, everyone should pay to park.” 
 
Response by Councillor Welton  
 
“There are a couple of concessions at the moment.  Two spaces are allowed for 
overnight parking by volunteers from a delicate charity in close proximity who deal with 
some of the most vulnerable people in society.  A community group working hard in the 
town are also allowed concessionary parking.” 
 
Question asked by Councillor Brian Rush pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Given that most other workers in our town, are forced to use "pay to park" schemes, 
why should council workers be rewarded with free parking whilst at work?” 
 
Response by Councillor Welton 
 
“This is not a unique arrangement, many employers in the town provide free parking for 
their staff. Arrangements for staff parking form part of the terms and conditions of 
employment for our employees. These arrangements have been in place for a number 
of years.” 

Page 6



Full Council 
26 November 2018 

 

 
 

 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Rush pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:-  
 
“We now have DWP accommodated in the building, fit people should be able to walk 
from car parks further away to allow those who can’t to park closer.” 
 
 
 
Response by Councillor Welton 
 
“I refer Councillor Rush to my previous response.” 
 
24   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
The Chief Executive reported there were questions from Mr. Neill Hastie and Mr. John 
Sullivan. 
 
Question from Mr. Neill Hastie pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules of Procedure 
as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Cllr Sue Ransome as the Chairman of the Boston Town Area committee what is your 
opinion, regarding the effectiveness of our PSPO's, do you think it has done a good job, 
or a not so very good job in preventing street drinking and ASB and are there any plans 
to replace them?” 
 
Response by Councillor Sue Ransome  
 
“As the Chairman of BTAC, yes I think the PSPO has had a very positive effect on 
reducing the visible impact of the type of street drinking behaviours the community now 
experiences compared to what I and others used to see prior to its introduction; and no, 
having spoken to the Portfolio Holder, I am not aware of any plans to replace it.   
 
What I do know from talking to the Portfolio Holder and officers is that Council’s do not 
have the powers to ‘ban’ street drinking in the way many call for, nor can they directly 
cause individuals to be arrested for drinking in the street or otherwise have people 
immediately removed from public spaces for doing so.  The Portfolio holder and officers 
work closely with Lincolnshire Police and the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership to protect 
the community and is confident that the Council’s response to the PSPO is balanced 
and appropriate as has been presented to BTAC previously.   
 
The Portfolio Holder has kindly provided me with a full set of PSPO statistics that I have 
in turn provided to Mr Hastie.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Mr. Hastie pursuant to paragraph 10.8 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:-  
 
“Did you write the response yourself?  A group on Facebook has reports of incidents of 
anti- social behaviour and street drinking more than double of those reported to the 101 
service this year.  Crime in the area is escalating and increasing, you say the PSPO is 

Page 7



not a ban, yet the Borough Council website says it is banned and illegal, could you 
please clarify.”  
 
Response by Councillor Ransome  
 
“Yes it was my own response, prepared in conjunction with officers to ensure the correct 
information was provided. Personally, I cannot speak for what is on the Council’s 
website this should be raised with officers. 
 
I have spent 28 years as a taxi driver in Boston and seen the town change over that 
time.  I have worked with many voluntary organisations to help vulnerable people in the 
town, witnessed many incidents of drinking and anti-social behaviour, I probably have 
the most experience in this sort of field than all the Councillors in this Chamber.  The 
problem is not specific to any one group.   
 
As a Councillor over the last six years, my record stands for itself, not just for attendance 
at meetings, although since I was elected to Boston Borough Council my attendance 
record stands at 95% that is 127 meetings out of a possible 133.  I support the residents 
of my ward, I personally go out to clean and tidy the area, hold surgeries for residents 
not just of my ward and follow up requests, regularly check street lights and pot holes 
and report to Lincolnshire County Council on behalf of the community, report incidents of 
fly tipping to get them cleaned up as soon as possible, but I don’t have a crystal ball, I 
can’t be there all the time and many incidents I have witnessed involved local people.  
Drinking problems are not due to the Council or the police, many residents don’t have a 
nice warm home where they can enjoy a drink, many live in HMOs and sometimes there 
isn’t anywhere for them to sit other than their bedrooms, so they gravitate to the street.  
Early morning drinking is also a problem, but shift workers enjoy a drink when they have 
finished work for the night.  Boston is now a 24/7 town whether we like it or not.”  
 
Question from Mr. John Sullivan pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules of 
Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“In the current climate of budget cuts and staff shortages in council departments, I would 
like to know what procedures and audit checks are carried out on decisions made by 
planning case officers before they approve or dismiss a planning application, to ensure 
that all due processes were carried out in a fair manner according to the rules and 
regulations for the benefit of applicants and objectors so that the decisions made by the 
case officers are not just rubber stamped to clear workloads and meet deadlines.  
 
If and when these checks are carried out who carries them out , when and where are 
they recorded and who has access to the completed reports to ensure that there is 
traceability and transparency in the planning process, and thus prevent any unsafe 
approvals slipping through the net.” 
 
Response by Councillor Cooper  
 
“Thank you for the enquiry regarding planning application decision making by Planning 
Officers. 
 
All applications, prior to a decision being made are fully assessed by a qualified planning 
officer (the case officer).  The case officer will prepare a report, taking account of a 

Page 8



Full Council 
26 November 2018 

 

 
 

number of matters including planning policies at a local and national level, neighbour 
and consultee responses, case law and any other material considerations.  The report 
will set out the officer’s recommendation, i.e. whether to grant or refuse the planning 
application. 
 
The Growth Manager or a Senior Planning Officer will be passed the file, once the report 
is finalised, in order to determine the application.  They will read the officer’s report and 
review the plans to determine whether they are in agreement with the recommendation 
or whether further clarification of any other matter (or matters) is required – or if a 
different recommendation should be made.  If the application is recommended for 
approval, the conditions will each be carefully checked to ensure that they meet the 
tests set out within the National Planning Policy Framework (necessary, relevant, 
precise, enforceable and precise).  For refusals, the reason(s) for refusal are carefully 
checked to ensure the applicant will be clear why the development is not acceptable and 
that it can be defended should an appeal be made.  It is not uncommon for a discussion 
to take place between the case officer and the officer making the decision prior to the 
decision being issued.   
 
The decision notice is also checked by the authorising officer prior to it being issued and 
the authorising officer’s initials will be added to the notice.  This is saved to the record 
and made available on the Council’s website alongside the Officer’s report.  Anyone 
interested in the application will therefore be able to view the decision and understand 
how it was made. 
 
The decision making of a planning application is one of the most important stages of an 
application and appropriate time and care is spent by each of the officers who are able 
to authorise a decision to ensure it is dealt with fairly and appropriately.” 
 
 
Supplemental question asked by Mr. Sullivan pursuant to paragraph 10.8 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:-  
 
“As an objector to the controversial biomass installation, I submitted letters to the Case 
Officer and contacted the ward councillors to request the application be called in.  The 
application was subsequently approved on the basis of no response from those 
councillors.  Why after there was no feedback did the Case Officer not refer to their line 
manager or other councillors, failing to refer the application to the Planning Committee 
for comments and for a balanced view to be taken.” 
 
Response by Councillor Cooper.  
 
“The decision was lawful and therefore will not be reconsidered.  If you are not satisfied I 
suggest you contact the Local Government Ombudsman.” 
 
25   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 
 
 

Page 9



 
26   AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES 

 
Councillor Jonathan Noble introduced the confirmed minutes of the Audit and 
Governance Committee held on 30 May, 23 July and 17 September 2018 highlighting 
the key matters considered by the Committee. 
 
In response to a question regarding the dates for settlement of property funds placed 
with a number of organisations, it was confirmed all the dates were in 2018. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Jonathan Noble, seconded by Councillor James 
Edwards and   
 

 
RESOLVED that the confirmed minutes of the meetings of the Audit and 
Governance Committee held on 30 May, 23 July and 17 September 2018 be 
received.  
 

 
 
27   GAMBLING ACT 2005 - STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 

 
Councillor Colin Brotherton, as Chairman of the Licensing/Regulatory and Appeals 
Committee, introduced a report by the Principal Licensing and Land Charges Officer on 
the adoption of a Statement of Principles setting out the Council’s policy for 
administering and enforcing licences, registrations and permits, as required by the 
Gambling Act 2005. 
 
The report stated that the Council, as Licensing Authority, was required to consult on, 
adopt and publish a Statement of Principles every three years.  The deadline for the 
Statement to be adopted and published was the end of January 2019.  
 
The administration and enforcement of licensing for gambling premises and activities 
was prescribed in legislation and the Statement of Principles had been based on 
guidance provided by the Gambling Commission.  The Council could not adopt any local 
policy that would be inconsistent with the requirements of the Act.  
 
Operators of gambling premises such as betting shops, gaming centres and bingo 
providers, had to undergo stringent scrutiny by the Gambling Commission to obtain an 
Operator’s Licence.  Without such a licence, operators could not apply to the Council for 
a Premises Licence. 
 
The draft statement had been considered by the Licensing Committee on 11 September 
2018 when it was agreed that the statement, as attached at Appendix A, be consulted 
on as required under the provisions of the Act.  
 
The draft statement had been subject to a consultation exercise between 12 September 
and 25 October 2018.  No responses to the consultation had been received. The draft 
policy had been considered by the Licensing Committee on 6 November 2018 and 
recommended to full Council for adoption. 
 

Page 10



Full Council 
26 November 2018 

 

 
 

It was noted there was a typographical error on the front cover and inside page of the 
Statement of Principles, the date of adoption should have read 26th November, not the 
28th.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Colin Brotherton, seconded by Councillor Michael 
Brookes and  
 

 
 
RESOLVED that the Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles be adopted. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

(The meeting ended at 7.40 pm) 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: 
 

COUNCIL 

DATE: 21 JANUARY 2019 

SUBJECT: LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2019/20 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR AARON SPENCER - FINANCE 

REPORT AUTHOR: COUNCIL TAX AND BENEFITS MANAGER 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY  
 
As part of the Council Tax Support Regulations and budget setting process, the Council 
is required to review and approve its local scheme by 31 January each year. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. That the Council Tax Support Scheme be continued for 2019/20 on the basis of 

the 2018/19 scheme with no change to the core areas of the scheme of protection 
for pensioners; cap of 75% entitlement for working age claimants; and protection 
for working age claimants in receipt of a war pension, but that the following 
changes be made to all those in receipt of Council Tax Support (CTS):- 

 

 Social security benefits are up-rated in-line with the Department for Work 
and Pensions up-rating for working age claimants and with the Ministry for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government for pension age claimants; 

 

 Working age non-dependant deductions are up-rated using the Ministry for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government up-rating for pensioners to 
ensure consistency between the two groups. 

 
2. That authority for final wording of the scheme be delegated to the Section 151 

Officer. 
 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
In accordance with Regulations. 
 
The recommendations are supported by both the Corporate and Community (C & C) 
Committee, and Cabinet, following reports presented to them during the consultation 
process. 
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 1



 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
Continue with the scheme from 2018/19 and use the upratings in line with the 
Department of Work and Pensions and the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government. 
 
Continue with the scheme as it is, with a complete ‘no change’ approach for 2018/19. 
 
 

 

REPORT 
 
1.  INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  
 
1.1  As part of the Government’s programme of welfare reform, the Council Tax Benefit 

scheme was replaced by localised support arrangements for Council Tax from 
2013/14, with Government grant support reduced by 10%. From April 2013, 
Councils were required to establish local Council Tax Support (CTS) schemes. The 
support is in the form of discount of the Council Tax demand notice. 

 
1.2  The Welfare Reform Act also contains provisions regarding the introduction of 

Universal Credit, which impacts on the future administration of Housing Benefit. In 
Boston, Universal Credit for new claims only was rolled out in September 2018; 
there is a steady take up of new claims; however, the migration of existing claims 
from housing benefits to Universal Credit is not expected to be complete until 2023 
at the earliest. 

 
1.3  The reform of council tax support was accompanied by a new cash-limited 

government grant to councils, which was taken into account in setting the Council 
Tax Base and when forming the CTS local scheme.  
 

1.4 Whilst the new regulations provided councils with flexibility to set up their own local 
arrangements, the Government expressed clear intentions in relation to certain 
aspects of a local scheme. These included: 

  
• For pensioners there should be no change in the level of awards as a result 
of this reform. This includes both existing and new benefit claimants.  
• Councils were required to also consider ensuring support for other 
vulnerable groups  
• Local schemes should support work incentives, and in particular avoid 
disincentives to move into work.  

 
1.5 The Government expects that Councils should continue to have a significant degree 

of control over how the current, and any future reduction in, expenditure on the 
current council tax support bill is achieved. This includes freedom to collaborate to 
reduce costs, develop schemes that support priorities that are shared by a number 
of neighbouring authorities and the ability to manage financial risks.  

 

  

Page 14



1.6  At the time of setting up Boston’s local scheme, the CTB caseload was made up in 
the following way –  

 
Table 1 - Profile of Council Tax Benefit customers (as at July 2012) 
 

                            Number                    Percentage          CTB expenditure  

Working Age  3,194  49.95%   
Pensioners  3,187  50.05%   
Total  6,381  100%  £4,889,578* 

 
*Estimated full year expenditure. A breakdown of working age and pension age 
expenditure is not available. 

 
1.7 During the year the levels of CTS as well as caseloads fluctuate and it is only at the 

end of a financial year that we will be assured of the total expenditure incurred. 
Pensioner caseloads tend to attract higher levels of awards than those of working 
age.  This is due to factors such as higher levels of income, non-dependents in the 
household and generally going on and off benefits.  

 

2.  BOSTON’S LOCAL SCHEME  
 
2.1  The Council’s local scheme uses a number of principles:- 
  

 Protecting the most vulnerable – pension-age and war pensioners  

 A means-testing scheme based on the Council Tax Benefit rules as far 

as possible  

 The scheme will be reviewed annually  

2.2 After extensive modelling of the various options available, the local Council Tax 
Support scheme was approved, and included elements that:-  

 
 Protect war pensioners from reductions in support  

 Maximum entitlement to be capped at 75% of Council Tax liability  

2.3  The review of the scheme for 2016/17 identified that the projected costs were 
contained within the resources available. A similar scheme to 2013/14, 2014/15 and 
2015/16, with up ratings in line with the Government for specific deductions was 
approved for the current year alongside some minor changes that affected only a 
small number of customers. These were 

 
 Introduction of the minimum income floor for all self-employed income, to 

bring in line with Universal Credit 
 Abolish second Adult Rebate for working age claimants  
 Restrict awards and only award up to Band D equivalent  
 Introduce maximum of a one month backdate period for any working age 

claims 
 Remove the family premium for all new claims from 1 May 2016, existing 

claims to be protected 
 Abolish Second Adult rebate for working age customers 

 

Page 15



3.  CURRENT SCHEME FIGURES 
 
3.1 As at 31 March 2018, the caseload and spend was as follows –  
 

                            Number                    Percentage          CTS expenditure  

Working Age  2,457 50.29%  £1,496,653 
Pensioners  2,428 49.71%  £2,100,924 
Total  4,885 100%  £3,597,577 

 
3.2 The outturn position for 2017/18 was a 5.2% increase to the direct costs of the 

council tax support scheme when compared to 2016/17. This is due to the increase 
in council tax with the additional 2% for Adult Social Care. There was a reduction in 
the caseload of some 4%. 

 
3.3 As at 31 December 2018, the caseload and spend so far for 2018/19 was as follows  
 

                            Number                    Percentage          CTS expenditure  

Working Age  2,431 50.35%  £1,586,921 
Pensioners  2,397 49.65%  £2,126,914 
Total  4,828 100%  £3,713,836** 

 
** This figure fluctuates in year with caseload changes and final expenditure will not 
be determined until 31 March 2019. 

 
 
4.  Proposals for the 2019/20 Council Tax Support scheme 
 
4.1 Two options were consulted on -  
 

Option 1 
 
Continuation of the current scheme, as it is, with a ‘no change’ approach. 
 
With uprating the amounts used in the calculation of Council Tax Support for 
working age claimants in line with Department for Work and Pensions Uprating for 
working age social security benefits and non-dependant deductions. 

 
This option would maintain a consistent approach to Boston’s CTS scheme since its 
introduction in 2013/14.  It continues to recognise the additional needs of the 
vulnerable through the approach to its calculation. 
 
Any further reduction in the grant funding or increase in CTS awards would need to 
be found from other budget areas or service cuts. Any consultation process should 
include this as an option with views on how or what services should be affected. 
 
 

  

Page 16



Option 2 
 

          Continuation of 2018/19 scheme, but not apply any uprating. 
 

Any further reduction in the grant funding or increase in CTS awards would need to 
be found from other budget areas or service cuts. Any consultation process 
undertaken should include this as an option with views on how or what services 
should be affected. 
 

5.  Additional information 
 
5.1 The Council is required to consult with major preceptors and the public in terms of 

any scheme changes.  Any consultation should run for a reasonable period of time, 
and the responses to the consultation will be made available to members, and 
ultimately Council, as part of the decision making process. The more flexibility there 
is around consultation and the scheme options to be included in the consultation, 
the greater the likelihood that the consultation can be based on the best available 
information and therefore provide better information on which the Council can set its 
scheme for the following year.  

 
5.2  The financial risk of the localised scheme is shared with Lincolnshire County Council 

and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Lincolnshire, as our major precepting 
authorities.  Unlike Council Tax Benefit which was a fully funded scheme, Council 
Tax Support is now a local discount, and has the effect of reducing the council tax 
base. 

 
5.3 The final decision regarding the scheme design rests with this Council. 
 
 
6.  Consultation 

  
6.1 Consultation on the 2019/20 CTS scheme ran during October and November 2018. 

It was issued to Lincolnshire County Council and Lincolnshire Police and Crime 
Commissioner as major preceptors; the survey was also placed online, on the 
council’s social media sites and in the local press. 

 
6.2 The consultation focused on whether the Council should continue with its current 

scheme for 2019/20, and asked respondents if they felt this was a fair scheme. 
Twenty-three returns were received, with 55% in agreement with the proposal to 
continue with the current scheme. 

 
6.3 A report to consider the scheme was taken to the Corporate and Community 

Committee on 1 November 2018. The Committee resolved to recommend to 
Cabinet that Option 1, a continuation of the current scheme with national uprating for 
2019/20, be recommended to Full Council. Cabinet, at its meeting on 28 November, 
reiterated this. 

 

7.  RECOMMENDATION 
 

Page 17



7.1 That the proposed option 1 for the Council Tax Support Scheme for 2019/20 is 

approved. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The impacts upon the Council’s budgets, once Council approval has been given, will be 
included in the 2019/20 Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy. It is anticipated that 
these will be in line with the costs of the current year’s scheme.  
 

 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Council is required to approve a Council Tax Support scheme annually for the 
following year by 31 January.  
 

 
 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 

 
 

APPENDICES 
None 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 
 

  
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

Cabinet  

Corporate and Community Committee 

28 November 2018 

1 November 2018 

 

Page 18



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

FULL COUNCIL 
 

21 JANUARY 2019 
 

 

 

To receive the confirmed minutes of the 

meeting of the Audit and Governance 

Committee held on 12 November 2018. 

 

 
 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

12 November 2018 

Present: Councillor Jonathan Noble (Chairman), Councillor James Edwards (Vice-
Chairman), Councillors Michael Brookes, Paul Gleeson, Barrie Pierpoint, 
Felicity Ransome and Mr Alan Pickering 
 
Officers –  
Chief Finance Officer, Accountancy Manager Treasury and Capital, Transformation & 
Governance Manager, Head of Internal Audit (City of Lincoln Council), External Auditor 
(Mazars) and Senior Democratic Services Officer 
 
In attendance: David Chefneux, Director, Link Market Services  
 
26   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17th September 2018 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
27   APOLOGIES 

 
There were apologies for absence from Councillor Colin Brotherton. 
 
28   ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER 2017/18 

 
The Committee received KPMG’s Annual Audit Letter.  This summarised the key 
findings of KPMG’s audit of the Council’s 2017/18 financial statements and the 2017/18 
value for money (VFM) conclusion.   
 
All issues in the letter had been reported to the Committee previously; this was a 
reiteration of the key messages.  The letter was a public-facing document and would be 
published on the Council’s and the regulator’s websites.   
 
KPMG had previously confirmed that they would be issuing an unqualified opinion on 
the audit of the Council’s 2017/18 financial statements and the 2017/18 VFM conclusion 
and the letter gave assurance that they had been issued. 
 
29   QUARTER 2 RISK REPORT 

 
The Transformation & Governance Manager presented the Quarterly Risk Report, which 
set out information for the period to September 2018, to enable the Committee to 
monitor the Council’s strategic risks. 
 
There were no new strategic risks to report in Quarter 2.  The Corporate Management 
Team (CMT) had completed their in-depth review of the strategic risks, the outcome of 
which had been reported in Quarter 1.  The report summarised the strategic risks and 
full details were set out in Appendix A.  If Members had any questions about the content 
they should seek information from the officer responsible, the ‘risk owner’ named in the 
appendix.  Any concerns about risks could be referred to the relevant scrutiny 
committee. 
 

Page 21



Audit & Governance Committee 
12 November 2018 
 

 

The report also contained information requested by Members at the last meeting with 
respect to the Lincolnshire Resilience Forum; monitoring of recent changes to housing 
requirements; and the change to the wording of the risk relating to population change. 
 
The Transformation & Governance Manager reported that the focus would now move to 
an in-depth review of the operational risks as part of service planning for 2019/20. This 
would be carried out in Quarter 3 and reported to the Committee in Quarter 4. 
 
The Committee were invited to identify a specific aspect of risk management to focus on 
in Quarter 3 reporting, for example, risk appetite. 
 
In response to questions, the Transformation & Governance Manager explained that 
CMT had spent a significant amount of time reviewing strategic risks and the actions 
and monitoring to be undertaken to mitigate them, as set out in Appendix A.  There 
would be further information in Quarter 4 regarding what was planned.   
 
The guidance on how risks were scored in terms of likelihood and impact was set out at 
the end of Appendix A.  Officers determined the score for each risk, but the scores were 
open for discussion and Members could suggest changes. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer explained that consideration of the ongoing uncertainty of 
Brexit and its specific impact on the Council and Boston had resulted in the risk being 
given a green management assurance at this time. 
 
A Member suggested that the Committee should consider risks in greater detail and it 
was agreed to consider the two highest risks at the next meeting.   
 

Action: SR 
Report back to the January meeting on the two highest risks in Quarter 3. 

 
30   TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL STRATEGY UPDATE - 

QUARTER 2 2018/19 
 

The Chief Finance Officer presented a report, which set out Treasury Management and 
relevant capital strategy performance up to 30 September 2018, and looked ahead to 
the remainder of the financial year. 
 
The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2018/19 was 
updated and approved by Council in April 2018 to include £20 million capital expenditure 
on property funds and the borrowing to finance their acquisition.   
 
The report included a table of information from the Council’s treasury advisor (Link Asset 
Services), which provided a forecast of the bank base rate for September 2018 to March 
2019.  The bank base rate informed the rates that could be obtained from cash 
investments and the increase in August 2018 from 0.50% to 0.75% had increased 
expected returns slightly.  The treasury advisor forecast an increase to 1.5% by March 
2021.   
 
The Council had budgeted to receive £117,000 in investment income in 2018/19 
comprising £80,000 from cash investments and £37,000 from Property Funds. This 

Page 22



Audit & Governance Committee 
12 November 2018 

 

 

estimate excluded any returns from new property fund expenditure, approved by Council 
on 30 April 2018. 
 
Investment income earned to 30 September 2018 totalled £83,300, made up of £44,100 
from cash investments and £39,200 from Property Funds.  A significant uplift in property 
fund income would occur in the second half of this year following purchases at the end 
of August and September totalling £15.489m.   
 
Investment income for 2018/19 was now expected to achieve £462,000 comprising 
£87,000 from cash investments and £375,000 from Property Funds.  As previously 
reported, it was proposed that any investment returns above the costs of borrowing be 
initially placed in a reserve to mitigate the risks of any future reductions in the funds’ 
capital value.  There was a proposed initial transfer to a mitigation reserve of £109,000 
for the current year.   
 
The counterparty list and investments table showed that the Council held cash 
investments at 30th September amounting to £14.1m, compared to £16.4m at the end of 
Quarter 1.   
 
With respect to the Capital Strategy and property funds, the fair value of the £1m 
investment in three property funds stood at £1.136m at the end of September; an 
increase of £136,000 over the initial investment price, which was a positive return in that 
short time.   
 
The report also set out the new property funds holdings, comparing the fair value at 30th 
September with the initial investment.  During October, an additional £0.5m had been 
placed with Threadneedle and £4m in the AEW Core Property Fund, with settlement 
dates for both being 31st October.    
 
During the period of due diligence running up to the acquisition of holdings in August 
and September, long-term Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) rates were closely 
monitored and there had been a rise in the long-term fixed rate.  Discussions with 
advisors concluded this was likely to be reversed to some degree over the coming 
months; therefore, initial acquisitions had been financed with short-term borrowing of 
£10.5m with the remainder coming from existing cash resources.  No long-term 
borrowing from PWLB had been taken to date, but would be considered when 
advantageous to do so.  Assuming that this would be undertaken by the end of 
December 2018, the total interest payable for 2018/19 was estimated at £322,000.   
 
The Accountancy Manager - Treasury & Capital added that the temporary loan from 
South Holland District Council had now been repaid and additional borrowing of £4m 
had been undertaken from the London Borough of Brent for one month at 0.75% in 
order to fund the acquisition in the AEW Core Property Fund.  Current temporary 
borrowing therefore stood at £12.5m.   
 
In response to a question regarding what was planned if the PWLB long-term rate did 
not come down, it was explained that it had already eased slightly to 2.59% and would 
be monitored.  A watching brief was ongoing – it was announced and checked twice a 
day – and when it came down further it would be discussed and the Chief Finance 
Officer would make the decision to undertake borrowing at that time.   
 

Page 23



Audit & Governance Committee 
12 November 2018 
 

 

Information would be provided on the costs of arranging the short-term borrowing, 
though the amount was nominal – for example, in the region of between £200-300 for a 
£4m loan – and it was confirmed that the Council was paying less than if it had taken out 
a PWLB loan. 
 
The change effected by the introduction of the IFRS9 accounting standard would impact 
property funds in the way that they had to be accounted for.  
 
With respect to new property fund holdings as at 30th September 2018 set out in the 
report, the Chief Finance Officer explained that the purchase price was above the 
nominal value; therefore, there was a slight initial reduction. However, it was anticipated 
that, over time, the fair value would at least be equivalent to the initial purchase cost.    
 
In response to a request for assurance that income would exceed the interest payable, 
the Chief Finance Officer explained that from the income forecast for 2018/19 it was now 
expected that £462,000 would be achieved and it was anticipated that there would be 
annual returns of around 3.5% and a cost of borrowing of around 2.5%.  If the long-term 
fixed rate did not reduce as hoped, the Council would still benefit from the difference 
between the return of 3.5% and whatever rate was obtained when borrowing was 
undertaken.  It would reduce the amount going into the mitigation reserve initially, but 
not negatively impact on revenue. 
 
A Member commented that although the PWLB rate might increase, there would also be 
an increase in property.  The Chief Finance Officer responded that this would be 
anticipated, though it would not happen in a linear fashion, but the rationale for 
borrowing was in the expectation of a better return over a longer period.   
 
31   INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT - NOVEMBER 2018 

 
The Internal Audit Manager presented the Internal Audit Progress Report, which detailed 
progress with work from the Audit Plan for 2018/19. 
 
Work on the Plan was progressing well and was on track.  At the end of September, 
39% of the Plan had been completed compared to the target of 37% (the majority of the 
work was to be done in the second half of the year at management’s request).   
 
One audit had been completed since the last report, Environmental Enforcement, and 
had achieved High assurance.   
 
Another five were in progress: 

 Key Controls (Housing Benefits, Council Tax & NNDR) 

 Town Centre Events 

 Affordable Housing 

 IT Infrastructure & Disaster Recovery follow up 

 Business Continuity & Emergency Planning 
 
In response to questions, the Internal Audit Manager explained that a small number of 
councils assessed risk on a continuous basis and, therefore, had no formal audit plan at 
the start of the year.  This was a far more proactive approach and something that 
Members could discuss with the S151 Officer. 

Page 24



Audit & Governance Committee 
12 November 2018 

 

 

 
Within the action plan for the Quality Assurance Improvement Programme appended to 
the report listed two opportunities for improvement relating to assurances linked to the 
Northamptonshire report.  The Internal Audit Manager explained they were mapping 
governance issues identified in that report against their audit and combined assurance 
work to provide initial feedback to the Chief Finance Officer and hoped to provide the 
Committee with the results.  In response to a suggestion that it might be worthwhile 
looking at other authorities where such issues had been identified, the Internal Audit 
Manager agreed there were others, though they were mostly county rather than district 
councils.   
 
With respect to the statement that the majority of the work from the Audit Plan was being 
done in the second half of the year at management’s request, the Internal Audit 
Manager explained that the dates in the Plan had been agreed with management to best 
fit in with their requirements.  The Chief Finance Officer added that the Plan slotted in 
with the busiest periods for officers.   
 
32   WORK PROGRAMME 

 
Members considered the work  programme.   
 
The Chief Finance Officer advised Members that there would be a future agenda item 
added to the work programme on the Committee’s Terms of Reference, following the 
publication of guidance by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s 
(CIPFA). 
 
The Chairman confirmed that there would be an additional meeting of the Committee on 
10th December to consider the recommendations of the Code of Conduct Working 
Group, which was in favour of establishing a Standards Sub-Committee as a Sub-
Committee of the Audit and Governance Committee.  Proposed revised terms of 
reference for the Committee had been drawn up.  It would be within the Sub-
Committee’s remit to review the Code of Conduct.   
 
Mr Pickering asked that it be recorded that he was strongly against setting up a 
Standards Sub-Committee as no benefit was apparent and it would involve a significant 
amount of work.   
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 7.15 pm 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 3 
 

REPORT TO: COUNCIL 

DATE: 21 JANUARY 2019 

SUBJECT: REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING 
PLACES 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR MICHAEL COOPER 

REPORT AUTHOR: RETURNING OFFICER 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 
To consider the outcome of the recent review of polling districts and polling places 
in accordance with the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. That the proposals for the polling districts, polling places and polling stations, 

in the Borough area, as set out in Appendix 1 of the report, be approved.  
 
2. That the Returning Officer be granted delegated authority for keeping polling 

districts and polling places under review and amending any such 
arrangements (following consultation with local Ward Member(s) where there 
is an operational need, prior to the next compulsory Borough wide review 

 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To seek to provide reasonable facilities for voting that, so far as is practical, are 
accessible to all electors including those who are disabled.  
 
To comply with the requirements of the Electoral Registration and Administration 
Act 2013. 
 
 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
As set out in the report. 
 
 

 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 3



REPORT 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 Under the Representation of the People Act 1983, the Council has a duty to 

divide the Borough area into polling districts and designate a polling place for 
each of those districts.   

 
1.2 Polling districts are, in effect, sub divisions of electoral wards.  Each parish 

or parish ward is automatically a polling district in its own right, but then that 
area can be broken down into further polling districts dependant on the size 
of the parish and the number and location of the electors.  Responsibility for 
determining polling district boundaries lies with the Council.  

 
1.3 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) is the 

body responsible for determining the ward boundaries and these can only be 
changed following a review by the Commission.  The last review of the 
Borough area was completed in 2014 when the number of wards was 
reduced from 18 to 15 and the number of elected members reduced from 32 
to 30. 

 
1.3 The Council must designate a polling place for every polling district.  In 

determining where polling places should be located the Council must seek to 
ensure that all the electors have such reasonable facilities for voting that are 
practical in the circumstances and that, so far as is reasonable and practical, 
polling places are accessible to all electors, including those who are 
disabled. 

 
1.4 The Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 requires a review of 

polling districts and polling places to be undertaken every five years.  The 
last review for the Borough area was completed in December 2014. It is 
considered timely to complete the review in advance of the scheduled 
Borough and Parish Council elections in May 2019.  

 
1.5 The only proposed change from the review of 2014 is to the polling place in 

the parish of Benington due to the previous location no longer being 
available.  It is proposed to use the newly refurbished Beonna Centre 
(formerly the parish church) which is in a convenient location within the 
parish and has good access arrangements. 

 
1.6 A schedule of the proposed polling districts and polling places is attached at 

Appendix 1 of this report. 
 
 
2. Consultation Process  
 
2.1 Public notice of the review was given on 5 November 2018 and full details of 

the review were published on the Council’s website.  The period for 
representations to be made on existing and draft proposals was from 5 
November to 17 December 2018.   

Page 28



 
2.2 As part of the review, draft proposals were prepared and consultation 

undertaken which invited comments from all Borough Councillors, all Parish 
Councils in the Borough area, local political parties, the Boston Disability 
Forum and members of the public. 

 
3. Responses  
 
3.1 Very few responses have been received to the consultation.  Where 

comments have been received they are set out in the proposals attached at 
Appendix 1.   

 
3.2 An objection has been received to the proposal to allocate the electors in the 

OF polling district in the Wyberton Ward to the polling station at the Parish 
Hall, London Road, Wyberton. 

 
3.3 The area in question formerly sat within the South Ward prior to the LGBCE 

review in 2014, and comprises of a small number of properties on Wyberton 
Low Road and the housing estate adjacent to St. Thomas’ School; Bell 
Court, Edison Way, Fleming Court, Sir Isaac Newton Drive, Stephenson 
Close, and Whittle Close.   

 
3.4 There are currently 426 local government electors in the polling district who 

would have previously used St. Thomas’ School as their designated polling 
station.  The school is located within the St. Thomas’ Ward, but the area of 
the properties is now part of the Wyberton Ward following the LGBCE 
review. 

 
3.5 This polling district was created as part of the review in 2014 as it sits 

outside of the Wyberton Parish boundary and therefore needs to be 
identified separately to ensure the electors in that area are not allowed to 
vote in Wyberton Parish Council elections.  This also applies to the polling 
district of OE in the Wyberton Ward.  The polling district contains a small 
number of properties in the London Road area (48 electors), which again 
previously sat within in the South Ward.  No objections have been received 
to the proposal to allocate the OE polling district to the polling station at 
Wyberton Parish Hall. 

 
3.6 Councillor Alison Austin and Councillor Richard Austin have objected to the 

proposal on the grounds of increased travelling issues for the residents, 
likely impact on the turnout at elections, convenience of St. Thomas’ School.  
The full responses are set out below:-  

 
Councillor Alison Austin: 
 
It is unacceptable to send residents of polling district OF to Wyberton Parish 
Hall to vote. Not everyone wants to do a postal vote but they can’t get to that 
polling station without using a car and yet are within 2 minute walk of St 
Thomas’ School and they go to pick their children up from that school. 

 

Page 29



Formerly they voted at St Thomas’ School and would only return the 
numbers being able to vote there to what they had been before the last 
change. 

 
We shouldn’t be making voting unnecessarily difficult if we want to get higher 
public engagement with local democracy. The local community for these 
residents IS the St Thomas area.  

 
A separate issue that I’d like to air is set out below: 

 
In addition to the location of the polling station, another issue is the impact 
upon the community of the last boundary review. It is highly likely that 
another boundary review will return these electors to St Thomas’ Ward as 
the previous one in 2013 failed to take account of the Quadrant because the 
planning application for it hadn’t been approved at that point. 

 
The residents all live in Skirbeck Quarter and so are eligible for the benefits 
of the Skirbeck Quarter Charities and also BTAC but NOT for anything 
relating to Wyberton Parish. This causes me a lot of extra work because I 
have to produce and print a separate newsletter or put a supplement in 
Richard’ letters to give these residents the required information.  I could have 
coped with the additional houses - the “extra” that I gained was Middlecott 
Close and the area around Newton’s Corner. 

 
In summary: 
1. Get the OF district polling at St Thomas’ School again. 
2. Return that district to the St Thomas’ Ward. 
. 

 
Councillor Richard Austin: 

 
I am pleased that this review will give the chance to change what is a big 
polling difficulty and anomaly for the residents on Sir Isaac Newton Drive, 
Skirbeck Quarter. 

 
Residents now vote for the two Wyberton Borough Councillors of Wyberton 
Ward but not for Wyberton Parish Councillors. 

 
The St Thomas's School polling station is very close to them on Wyberton 
Low Road close to the entrance of the housing estate. Most residents pass 
the school daily and many have children at the school. 

 
At the last election they were asked to make the two mile tortuous journey to 
Wyberton Parish Hall and as a result few did! 

 
Please ensure that, this time, they can vote at their local polling station St. 
Thomas’ School. 

 

Page 30



4. Options Considered  
 
4.1 Consideration has been given to allocating this area to the polling station at 

St. Thomas’ School.  However, this would require an additional polling 
station to be located within the school to accommodate the two different 
wards of St. Thomas’ and Wyberton.  This would necessitate at least a 
partial closure of the school on polling days.  

 
4.2 Under the current arrangements the school is able to remain open as access 

to the room used for the polling station does not require entry into the main 
school building.  This arrangement maintains security for the school and 
keeps safeguarding issues to a minimum.  

 
4.3 The room currently used is not large enough to accommodate a double 

polling station therefore an additional room would be required which would 
impact on the ability of the school to remain fully open on polling day.  

 
4.4 Every effort is made not to disrupt schools and deny children of a days 

education wherever possible. If suitable alternative locations are available it 
is good practice to use these in preference to school buildings.  However, 
there is no other suitable alternative venue available in the area.  

 
4.5 Research has been undertaken into the number of electors in the polling 

district who voted in the Parliamentary election held in June 2017, the last 
major election in the area, to try and gauge the impact a change in polling 
venue would have on the turnout.   

 
4.6 Of the 347 parliamentary electors affected, 150 voted in person at the polling 

station at Wyberton Parish Hall, and 61 had postal voting arrangements in 
place.  This represents a turnout at the polling station of 43.2% and an 
overall turnout of 57% taking into account returned postal votes. This 
compares well with the total turnout for the constituency of 62.7% 

 
4.7 Whilst convenience and practicality for electors is important when allocating 

to polling stations, this has to be balanced against the impact on the wider 
community.  Having a partial closure of the school would cause considerable 
inconvenience to parents in respect of childcare arrangements and the pupils 
would lose a day of education.   

 
4.8 It is recognised that the proposed polling station of Wyberton Parish Hall is 

just under two miles from the area in question, however electors have the 
option of voting by post if travelling causes difficulties for them. No 
complaints have been received from the electors regarding the location of 
their allocated polling station.  

 
4.9 The Parish Hall has sufficient room to accommodate an additional polling 

station for the OE and OF polling districts of the Ward, which both fall outside 
of the Wyberton Parish Boundary.  Having a separate polling station for 
these districts would ensure that only eligible electors were permitted to vote 
in the elections for Wyberton Parish Council.   

Page 31



4.10 For elections which were not combined with Parish Council elections, only 
two polling stations would be required as the OE and OF polling districts 
could be joined with the remainder of the Wyberton Ward.  

 
4.11 Having considered all the issues the Returning Officer’s proposal remains for 

the polling district of OF in the Wyberton Ward to be allocated to the polling 
station at Wyberton Parish Hall.   

 
CONCLUSION 
 
Throughout the review process every effort has been made to ensure that electors 
have such reasonable facilities for voting that are as practical in the circumstances, 
and, as so far as is reasonable and practical, polling places are accessible to all 
electors, including those who are disabled. 
 
The proposals set out in Appendix 1 were subject to a public consultation exercise 
and reflect the composition of the Borough Council Wards. 
 
On occasions designated polling stations may become unavailable for use during 
elections owing to the closure of buildings or premises being used for other events.  
The Returning Officer requires approval by the Council in order to change polling 
places at relatively short notice.  It is therefore recommended that delegated 
authority be granted to the Returning Officer following consultation with the relevant 
Ward Member(s) to approve any such changes during an election period.  
 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Council has a legal duty under Section 17 of the Electoral Registration and 
Administration Act 2013 to complete a review of polling districts and polling places 
every five years. 
 

 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Representation of the People Act 1983 requires the accessibility needs of 
disabled persons to be taken into account when designating polling places. 
 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
All Members of the Council 
All Parish Councils in the Borough area 
Local branches of political parties 
Boston Disability Forum 
 

Page 32



 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX 1 Returning Officer’s Proposals 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 
 

Notice of Review of Polling Districts 
and Polling Places 

Democratic Services 
Boston Borough Council website 

Electoral Registration and 
Administration Act 2013 

Democratic Services 

Electoral Commission Guidance on 
the Review of Polling Districts and 
Polling Places 

Democratic Services 
Electoral Commission website – 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body.  
 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS, POLLING PLACES 
AND POLLING STATIONS 2018 

 
 

 

DRAFT PROPOSALS FOR FUTURE POLLING ARRANGEMENTS  
 

NOVEMBER 2018 
 
 
 

BOSTON AND SKEGNESS CONSTITUENCY (PART OF) 

P
age 35



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL – REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 2018 
RETURNING OFFICER’S PROPOSALS  

 

Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

ELECTORAL WARD: FENSIDE 

AA 
 

 807 Argyle Street, Bowman Close, Carlton 
Road, Brothertoft Road, Castle Street, 
Fydell Street, Kyme Road, Laughton 
Road, Orchard Street, Taverner Road, 
Witham Bank West, Witham Gardens. 
 

Fenside Community 
Centre, Taverner 
Road, Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues.   
 
No change proposed. 

AB 
 

 1974 Carlton Road, Cotton Road, Fenside 
Road, Fieldfare Croft, Fox Close, Franklin 
Close, Haven Meadows, Hollydene 
Close, Hurle Crescent, Ingelow Avenue, 
Ingram Road, Joy Paine Close, Langrick 
Road, Larkspur Croft, Laughton Road, 
Middle Drove, North Forty Foot Bank, Old 
Washdyke Lane, Porcher Way, 
Punchbowl Lane, Puritan Way, Shaw 
Road, Somerset Court, Sunningdale 
Drive, The Graylings, Tilney Avenue. 
 

St. Christophers 
Church Centre, 
Fenside Road, 
Boston. 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues.   
 
No change proposed 

AC 
 

 300 Almond Close, Almond Walk, Brothertoft 
Road, Coningsby Close, Princess Street, 
Sleaford Road, Woodhall Close. 

St. Christopher’s 
Church Centre, 
Fenside Road, 
Boston. 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues.   
 
No change proposed 

  

P
age 36



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

ELECTORAL WARD: ST. THOMAS’ 

BA 
 

 1225 Alderfield Close, Carmel Green, Cater 
Way, Chain Bridge Road, Cork Tree 
Crescent, Davidson Drive, Farthing 
Close, Florin Drive, Gardeners Walk, 
Garfit’s Lane, Greenacres Drive, 
Greenbank Close, Half Crown Court, Half 
Penny Court, Linley Drive, London Road, 
Oldman Close, Park Road, Poplar Close, 
St. Thomas Drive, Sterling Court, 
Threepenny Way, Wellingtonia Park, 
Westfield Close, Wheeler Drive, White 
Bridges, Wyberton West Road. 
 

St. Thomas Church 
Hall, London Road, 
Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues.   
 
No change proposed 

BB 
 

 555 Bayswood Avenue, Elmwood Avenue, 
Heron Way, London Road, Marsh 
Avenue, Marsh Lane, Middlecott Close,  
Wyberton Low Road. 
 

St. Thomas School, 
Wyberton Low Road, 
Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues.   
 
No change proposed 
 

  

P
age 37



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

ELECTORAL WARD: SKIRBECK 

CA  893 Alford Terrace, Bedford Place, Blue 
Street, Broadfield Street, Chapel 
Passage, Charleston Terrace, Clovelly 
Terrace, Dover Terrace, Duke Street, 
Edwin Street, Elsham Terrace, 
Fishermans Court, Freiston Terrace, 
High Street, Holbeach Terrace, King 
Street, Kingston Terrace, Liquorpond 
Street, London Road, Longview Terrace, 
Melbourne Terrace, Morton Terrace, 
Nelson Way, New Haven Terrace, 
Norfolk Court, Oakham Terrace, Oxford 
Street, Pearl Terrace, Pilgrim Close, 
Pulvertoft Lane, Redbourne Terrace, 
Redstone Caravan Park, St. Ann’s Lane, 
Stells Lane, Sutton Terrace, White Horse 
Lane. 
 

Salvation Army 
Church and 
Community Centre, 
59 High Street, 
Boston. 

Venue is suitable for purpose, with no 
access issues.   
 
No change proposed. 
 
Venue will be a double station also 
to be used for EA polling district of 
Station Ward.  

CB  448 Alfred Street, Bath Gardens, Charles 
Street, Daisy Dale, Drakards Lane, 
Muster Roll Lane, Rose Place, Skirbeck 
Road, South End, South Square, South 
Terrace, Tooley Street. 

Skirbeck St. Nicholas 
Community Centre, 
Fishtoft Road, 
Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues.   
 
No change proposed.  
 
Venue will be a double station also 
to be used for JE polling district of 
Fishtoft Ward 
 

  

P
age 38



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

CC  1495 Armfield Close, Belton Close, Bradshaws 
Terrace, Brewster Road, Burgess Close, 
Church Road, Colindale, Dudley Close, 
Elizabeth Road, Forbes Road, Freiston 
Road, Goodson Close, Hardiway, 
Harewood Close, Laval Place, Leverett 
Road, Monteith Crescent, Rochford 
Crescent, Tower Road, Vauxhall Road, 
Wellington Road, Windsor Bank, Windsor 
Crescent, Woad Farm Road. 
 

Focus 1 Youth 
Centre, Mill Road, 
Boston. 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues.   
 
No change proposed 
 

CD  1506 Arbella Road, Church Road, Fishtoft 
Road, Forbes Road, Freiston Road, 
Hudsons Gardens, Kingsway, Kitwood 
Close, Kitwood Road, Mayflower Road, 
Mill Road, Pell Place, St. Nicholas Close, 
St. Nicholas Road, The Courtyard, 
Valentine Close, Wellington Road, 
Wheeler Close, Windsor Bank, Windsor 
Crescent, Winslow Road, Woad Farm 
Road 
 

Focus 1 Youth 
Centre, Mill Road, 
Boston. 
 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues.   
 
No change proposed 

CE  583 Dock Terrace, Fishtoft Road, King’s 
Crescent, King’s Avenue, Kingsway, 
Maple Road, Powell Street, Rectory 
Road, River Way, Sea Bank, Skirbeck 
Gardens, The Featherworks, The Golf 
Yard, Towell Close, Windsor Bank. 

Skirbeck St. Nicholas 
Community Centre, 
Fishtoft Road, Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues.   
 
No change proposed. 
 
Venue will be a double station also to 
be used for JE polling district of 
Fishtoft Ward 
 

  

P
age 39



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

ELECTORAL WARD: STANILAND 

DA  1212 Acacia Way, Cherry Walk, Cooks Lock, 
Heather Close, Hessle Avenue, Hessle 
Court, Hessle Drive, Ivy Crescent, 
Medlam Road, Old Mill Court, Sail Close, 
Sleaford Road, South Parade, Thornton 
Avenue, Westfield Avenue, Woodville 
Gardens East, Woodville Gardens West, 
Woodville Road. 

Staniland Primary 
School, Peck 
Avenue, Boston. 

Venue is suitable for purpose.  For 
major elections it will be necessary to 
use the school’s main hall and have 2 
polling stations, but for smaller elections 
the nursery unit is used which causes 
less disruption to the school.   
 
No change proposed 
 

DB  915 Albert Terrace, Bramley Lane, Broadfield 
Lane, Frampton Place, Gammons Court, 
Graylands Court, Peck Avenue, Revesby 
Avenue, Revesby Close, Sleaford Road, 
St. Botolph’s Crescent, Staniland Road, 
Tannery Close, Tennyson Close, Walden 
Gardens, Woodville Road. 
 

Staniland Primary 
School, Peck 
Avenue, Boston 

As above. 

DC  658 Bradford Road, Broadfield Lane, Bunting 
Road, Carver Road, Eaton Road, Francis 
Bernard Close, Grayling Way, Kingfisher 
Drive, Matthew Flinders Way, Moorhen 
Close, Staniland Road, Woodville Road. 
 

Staniland Primary 
School, Peck 
Avenue, Boston 

As above. 

  

P
age 40



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

ELECTORAL WARD: STATION 

EA  495 Bridge Street, Emery Lane, Fydell 
Crescent, George Street, Hatter Lane, 
Haven Bank, High Street, Irby Street, 
James Street, Leicester Square, Lincoln 
Lane, Liquorpond Street, Paddock 
Grove, Pipe Office Lane, Queen Street, 
Station Street, Tower Street, Trafalgar 
Place, Trinity Street, Victoria Place, West 
Row, West Street. 
 

Salvation Army 
Church and 
Community Centre, 
59 High Street, 
Boston. 

Venue is suitable for purpose, with no 
access issues.   
 
No change proposed. 
 
Venue will be a double station also 
to be used for CA polling district of 
Skirbeck Ward 

EB  808 Albert Street, Argyle Street, Bartol 
Crescent, Brothertoft Court, Brothertoft 
Road, Carlton Road, Elan Close, Fydell 
Street, Granville Street, Horace Street, 
Mountains Passage, Portland Street, 
Sleaford Road, Sydney Street. 
 

Zion Methodist 
Church, Hall 
Brothertoft Road, 
Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose, with no 
access issues.   
 
No change proposed 

ELECTORAL WARD: TRINITY 

FA  324 Albion Terrace, Botolph Street, Cornhill 
Lane, Craythorne Lane, Custom House 
Lane, Dolphin Lane, Grants Lane, Grove 
Street West, Main Ridge West, Market 
Place, Mastins Court, Mitre Lane, 
National Terrace, Pen Street, Pump 
Square, Quaker Lane, Rasons Court, 
Sibsey Lane, South Square, South 
Street, Spain Court, Spain Lane, St. 
Botolph’s Mews, St. Peter’s Lane, Still 
Lane, Threadneedle Street, Wide 
Bargate. 
 

TA Centre, Drill Hall, 
Main Ridge, Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues.  There is 
no car park attached to the building, 
but there is on-street parking and a 
public car park nearby.   
 
No change proposed 

  

P
age 41



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

FB  543 Field Street, Foster Street, Grove Street 
East, Main Ridge East, Manor Gardens, 
Maud Street, Pilgrim Road, Rowley 
Road, Spain Lane, Spain Place, Spayne 
Road, Wide Bargate, Windsor Terrace, 
York Street. 
 

Training Room, 
Geoff Moulder 
Leisure Complex, 
Rowley Road, 
Boston.  

Venue is suitable for purpose, with no 
access issues.   
 
No change proposed 

FC  1376 Ashlawn Drive, Comer Close, Fernleigh 
Way, Freiston Road, Highgrove 
Crescent, Margaret Drive, Mayfair 
Gardens, Orchard Grove, Princess Anne 
Road, Queen’s Road, Seedlands Close, 
Somersby Green, Somersby Way, 
Spilsby Road, St. Bedes Drive, Tollfield 
Road, Tower Road, Vauxhall Road, 
Windsor Bank. 
 

Holy Trinity Church 
Hall, Spilsby Road, 
Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

FD  1076 Allington Garden, Brown’s Road, 
Burleigh Gardens, Burton Close, Hilda 
Street, Hospital Lane, Linden Court, 
Linden Way, Mafeking Terrace, Rowan 
Way, Spilsby Road, St. Leonard’s Close, 
Standish Grove, Willoughby Road, 
Winston Gardens. 
 

Holy Trinity Church 
Hall, Spilsby Road, 
Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

  

P
age 42



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

ELECTORAL WARD: WEST 

GA  1691 Amberley Crescent, Archibald Walk, 
Arcott Drive, Arundel Crescent, Ashton 
Hall Drive, Bain Road, Bayford Green, 
Berkeley Place, Bluebell Walk, 
Charterhouse Court, Chester Way, 
Crafton Lane, Dalmeny Walk, Eton Way, 
Freshney Way, Glen Drive, Harrow 
Place, Mentmore Gardens, Oxford 
Gardens, Poppy Close, Primrose 
Crescent, Rosbery Avenue, Rothschild 
Close, Ryton Road, Sleaford Road, 
South Parade, Stanhope Way, Sunflower 
Way, Sussex Avenue, Welland Road. 
 

Boston West 
Academy, Sussex 
Avenue, Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

ELECTORAL WARD: WITHAM 

HA  418 Archer Lane, Chapel Street, Church 
Close, Church Lane, Church Street, 
Colley Street, Fish Hill, Fountain Lane, 
Market Place, New Street, Norfolk 
Street, Red Lion Street, St. Mark’s 
Terrace, Thorold Street, Tunnard Street, 
Union Court, Union Place, Union Street, 
Wide Bargate, Witham Place, Witham 
Street, Wormgate. 
 

Centenary Methodist 
Church 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

HB  248 Hartley Street, Horncastle Road, Norfolk 
Street, North Street, Tawney Street, 
Wide Bargate. 

St. Mary’s Catholic 
Church Hall, 
Horncastle Road, 
Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 
 

  

P
age 43



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

HC  1322 Brackenbury Way, Brady Street, 
Burrows Close, Charter Close, Cromwell 
Close, Davey Close, Fairfax Close, 
Green Lane, Haworth Way, Kirk 
Gardens, Lamb’s Row, Longhurst 
Gardens, Medforth Lane, Medlock Place, 
Norfolk Place, Parsons Drive, Raybrook 
Close, Red Cap Lane, Riverside, Sinclair 
Close, Stafford Street, Tattershall Road, 
Tudor Drive, Whiting Square, Witham 
Bank East, Witham Green, Witham 
Place, Witham Town. 
 

The Lounge, Witham 
Court, Brady Street, 
Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

HD  1103 Forest Dale, Friar Way, Grand Sluice 
Lane, Greenwood Drive, Hope Gardens, 
Horncastle Road, Jubilee Avenue, 
Locksley Close, Marian Road, Norfolk 
Street, Oak Crescent, Robin Hood’s 
Walk, Sheriff Way, Sherwood Avenue. 
 

Park Academy. 
Robin Hood’s Walk, 
Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

ELECTORAL WARD: COASTAL 

IA Benington 451 All areas of Benington Parish Beonna Centre, Main 
Road, Benington. 

The previous polling place of the 
Village Hall, is no longer available.   
 
The proposal is to use the newly 
refurbished Beonna Centre which is  
suitable for purpose, conveniently 
located within the polling district 
with no access issues. 
 
Consultation response  
 
Benington Parish Council – Acceptable 
 

P
age 44



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

IB Butterwick 1082 All areas of Butterwick Parish Village Hall, Church 
Road, Butterwick 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 
 
Consultation response  
 
Butterwick Parish Council – Acceptable 
 

IC Freiston 829 All areas of Freiston Parish Church Hall, Priory 
Road, Freiston 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 
 
Consultation response  
 
Freiston Parish Council – Acceptable 
 

ID Leverton 525 All areas of Leverton Parish Leisure Centre, Main 
Road, Leverton 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 
 

  

P
age 45



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

ELECTORAL WARD: FISHTOFT 

JA Fishtoft 1078 Fishtoft Parish -Blackthorn Lane, 
Buckingham Close, Camelot Gardens, 
Eastwood Road, Freiston Road, 
Hardiway, Highgrove Crescent, Hilldyke, 
Lindis Road, Long Hedges, Mastin’s 
Bridge, Monteith Crescent, Princess 
Anne Road, Priory Court, Priory Road, 
Rochford Tower Lane, Sandringham 
Gardens, Shortfield Lane, Sibsey Road, 
Wainfleet Road, Willoughby Hills, 
Wythes Lane, Zara Close. 
 

Rochford Tower Hall, 
Rochford Tower 
Lane, Fishtoft 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

JB Fishtoft 694 Fishtoft Parish – Bladon Estate, Church 
Green Road, Churchill Drive, Clifton 
Road, Eastwood Road, Eastwood Drive, 
Kenleigh Drive, Lever’s Close, Priory 
Road, Toot Lane, Ward Crescent, 
Wythes Lane. 
 

Hawthorn Tree 
School, Toot Lane, 
Fishtoft 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

JC Fishtoft 942 Fishtoft Parish - Alcorn Green, Eastwood 
Road, Hide Close, Judge Close, Ladds 
Close, Lyn Ellis Close, Meridian Close, 
Meridian Road, Pettitt Way, Reams 
Close, Smalley Road, Stanhope 
Gardens, Taylor Close, The Furrows, 
Wing Drive, Woodthorpe Avenue. 
 

Rochford Tower Hall, 
Rochford Tower 
Lane, Fishtoft 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

  

P
age 46



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

JD Fishtoft 702 Fishtoft Parish – Burton Croft Road, 
Church Green Close, Church Green 
Drive, Church Green Road, Clampgate 
Road, Coal Dyke Mount, Cut End Road, 
Fishtoft Road, Gaysfield Road, Gilder 
Way, Hobhole Bank, Manor Grange, 
Marshall Close, Old School Lane, Pinfold 
Lane, Rectory Close, Rimington Road, 
Royal Way, Scalp Road, Scotia Road, 
Southfield Lane, St. Guthlac’s Way, 
Woad Lane. 
 

Pavilion, Church 
Green Road, Fishtoft 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

JE Fishtoft 1072 Fishtoft Parish – Alder Grove, 
Blacksmiths Grove, Bridle Close, 
Chestnut Road, Fishtoft Road, 
Huntsman Close, King’s Avenue, 
Kingsway, Lime Grove, Maple Road, 
Mayflower Close, Pilgrim Gardens, 
Powell Street, Rider Gardens, Saddlers 
Way, The Chase, The Furrows, The Golf 
Yard, Toot Lane,White House Lane, Yew 
Tree Grove. 
 

Skirbeck St. Nicholas 
Community Centre, 
Fishtoft Road, 
Boston 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 
 
Venue will be a double station also 
to be used for CB and CE polling 
districts of Skirbeck Ward 

JF Fishtoft 648 Fishtoft Parish – Anton’s Gowt, Castle 
Road, Cowbridge, Frith Bank, Horncastle 
Road, Kelsey Bridge, Norman Drive, 
Pilley’s Lane, Rawsons Lane, Red Cap 
Lane, Sibsey Road, Spilsby Road, 
Tattershall Road, The Moorings, 
Wainfleet Road, Willoughby Hills, 
Willoughby Road, Witham Avenue. 

Rochford Tower Hall, 
Rochford Tower 
Lane, Fishtoft 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues.   
 
No change proposed 

  

P
age 47



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

ELECTORAL WARD: FIVE VILLAGE 

KA Algarkirk 300 All areas of Algarkirk Parish Village Hall, Church 
Lane, Algarkirk 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

KB Bicker 737 All areas of Bicker Parish Village Hall, 
Cemetery Road, 
Bicker 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 
 

KC Fosdyke 397 All areas of Fosdyke Parish Village Hall, Old 
Main Road, Fosdyke 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 
 

KD Sutterton 1359 All areas of Sutterton Parish Fourfields CEP 
School (Community 
Room) Park Avenue, 
Sutterton 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed. 
 

KE Wigtoft 399 All areas of Wigtoft Parish Village Hall, Main 
Road, Wigtoft 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed. 
 

  

P
age 48



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

ELECTORAL WARD: KIRTON AND FRAMPTON 

LA Kirton 1774 Kirton Parish - Ash Drive, Boothby 
Close, Boston Road, Chapelgate, 
Church Lane, Church Meadows, 
Cleymond Chase, Dennis Estate, 
Donington Road, Drainside North, 
Franks Close, Fyson Way, Gardner 
Row, Green Lane, Green View, 
Hardwick Estate, Hemington Way, High 
Street, Holmes Road, Kings Arms Close, 
Kirton End, Lighton Avenue, London 
Road, Nightingale Road, Ostler Walk, 
Pear Tree Road, Penny Gardens, 
Priestley Close, Ralphs Lane, Sentence 
Crescent, Swift Gardens, The Fairways, 
The Spinney, Upsall Court, Walnut 
Road, West End Road, Willington Road, 
Woodside Road. 

Town Hall, Station 
Road, Kirton 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

LB 
 

Kirton 213 Kirton Parish – Donington Road, 
Drainside North, Fishmere Lane, London 
Road, Malmsgate Lane, Manor road, 
Meeres Lane, The Meeres, Washdyke 
Lane, Woodsdie Road. 

Town Hall, Station 
Road, Kirton 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

LC 
 

Kirton 332 Kirton Parish – Beck Bank, Donington 
Road, Far Drove, Fenhouses, Holme 
Road, Holmes Road, Hubberts Bridge 
Road, Kells Drove, Kirton Holme, Kirton 
Holme Road, Littleside Road, Main 
Road, Middle Drove, Sandpit Lane, 
Simon Weir Lane, Station Road, 
Swineshead Road, Sykemouth Drove. 
 

Church Room, Kirton 
Holme 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. It is a 
combined polling station with the LE 
polling district which is part of 
Frampton parish, and would need to be 
a double station to accommodate 
parish elections.  
 
No change proposed 

Polling Polling No. of Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

P
age 49



District 
Code 

District Electors 

LD 
 

Frampton 801 Frampton Parish – Bannisters Lane, 
Church End, Church Green Lane, 
Clatterdyke Road, Coupledyke Lane, 
Cuthbert’s Lane, Fen Road, Five House 
Lane, Frampton Bank, Frampton Roads, 
Grosvenor Road, Hall Lane, Holmes 
Road, Horseshoe Lane, Lenton Way, 
Lighton Avenue, London Road, 
Middlegate Road, Millfield Lane West, 
Multon Ings Lane, Pear Tree Road, 
Ralphs Lane, Sandholme Lane, Silvertoft 
Lane, Spotfield Lane, Thorniman’s Lane, 
West End Road. 
 

Frampton Village 
Hall, 140 Middlegate 
Road, Frampton 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

LE  
 

Frampton 243 Frampton Parish – Boardsides, Fen 
Road, Frampton Fen, Frampton Lane, 
Holmes Road, Hubberts Bridge, 
Hubberts Bridge Road, Langrick Road, 
Station Road, Swineshead Road 

Church Room, Kirton 
Holme 

Venue is suitable for purpose, with no 
access issues.  The location sits within 
the Kirton Parish area and is a 
combined station with the LC polling 
district. It would need to be a double 
station to accommodate parish 
elections. 
 
No change proposed 
 

  

P
age 50



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

LF Kirton 1719 Kirton Parish – Aaron Way, Bucklegate 
Lane, Burnham Lane, Coupledyke Lane, 
Craven Avenue, Donington Road, 
Drainside North, Drainside South, 
Edinburgh Close, Edinburgh Crescent, 
Edinburgh Drive, Eleven Acre Lane, 
Fishmere Lane, Hansard Way, High 
Street, Horseshoe Lane, Jackson Drive, 
Jubilee Close, Keel Drive, Kime Mews, 
King Street, Kings Court, Lighton 
Avenue, London Road, Malmsgate Lane, 
Manor Road, Marketstead Estate, Marsh 
Road, Meeres Lane, Nidds Lane, Pell 
Drive, Princess Road, Sandholme Lane, 
Saxon Gate, Seadyke Road, Skeldyke 
Road, Station Road, The Meeres, The 
Mill, The Paddock, Thomas Middlecott 
Drive, Thorne Way, Wash Road, 
Woodside Road. 
 

Town Hall, Station 
Road, Kirton 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

  

P
age 51



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

ELECTORAL WARD: OLD LEAKE AND WRANGLE 

MA Old Leake 935 Bert Allen Drive, Church Road, Crackholt 
Lane, Faunt Bridge, Fold Hill, Furlongs 
Lane, Hampton Lane, Harlocks 
Almshouses, Hawthorn Crescent, 
Hawthorn Road, Hurns End, Lime Close, 
Lime Walk, Main Road, Market Lane, 
Meadow Way, Moat Lane, Old Main 
Road, Pode Lane, Poplar Court, School 
Lane, Sea Lane, Seadyke Road, Shaw’s 
Lane, Sibsey Road, Skipmarsh Lane, 
Southfields, Southfields Lane, St. Mary’s 
Way, Summerfields, The Gride, The 
Meadows, Tilia Grove, Vicarage 
Gardens, Wainfleet Road, Woodland 
Close. 
 

Community Centre, 
Furlongs Lane, Old 
Leake 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located, with no access 
issues. 
 
No change proposed 
 
 

MB Old Leake 700 Buttercake Lane, Caleb Hill Road, 
Chapel Road, Church Road, Common 
Lane, Commonside, Cowbroads Lane, 
Duke Road, Faunt Bridge, Felland’s 
Gate, Fold Hill, Forty Foot Lane, Green 
Lane, Hobhole Bank, Hunston Lane, 
Kent Road, Lade Bank, Mere Drove, 
Midgate East, Midgate Lane, Millersview, 
Sandyford Lane, Sandygate Crescent, 
Station Road, The Gride, Toftfield Lane, 
Washdyke Lane, Wicken Lane. 
 

Community Centre, 
Furlongs Lane, Old 
Leake 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located, with no access 
issues. 
 
No change proposed 
 
 

  

P
age 52



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

MC Wrangle 1148 All areas of Wrangle Parish Village Hall, Wrangle 
 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 
 
 

ELECTORALWARD: SWINESHEAD AND HOLLAND FEN 

NA Amber Hill 250 All areas of Amber Hill Parish Parish Hall, Holland 
Fen 

Venue is suitable for purpose, with no 
access issues, but is outside of the 
Amber Hill parish. There are no 
suitable venues within the area of 
Amber Hill.  
 
No change proposed 
 

NB Holland Fen 
with 
Brothertoft 

253 Holland Fen – Chapel Hill, Dovecote 
Lane, Gill End, Harts Grounds, Holland 
Fen, Kirton Drove, Kirton Fen, Latham 
Court, Main Road, Parsons Drove, 
Pelhams Lane, Reed Point, Sutterton 
Drove. 

Parish Hall, Holland 
Fen 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

NC Holland Fen 
with 
Brothertoft 

258 Brothertoft – Bye Lane, Cross Drove, 
Fen Drove, Fenside Road, Ferry Lane, 
Gill End, Hedgehog Bridge, Kirton 
Drove, Kirton Fen, Kirton Fen Road, 
Langrick Road, Langrick Road Hubberts 
Bridge, Main Road, North Forty Foot 
Bank, Punchbowl Lane, Wyberton Fen. 
 

Village Hall, Main 
Road, Brothertoft 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

  

P
age 53



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

ND Swineshead 1081 Swineshead – Abbey Crescent, Abbey 
Road, Adrian Close, Baby Row, 
Baythorpe, Boston Road, Cragg Close, 
Creasey Plot Lane, Enchantment Oaks, 
Fen Drove, Fenhouses Drove, Gunfleet 
Close, Haff Close, Hall Drive, Hardwick 
Plot Lane, High Street, King John’s 
Road, Kings Crescent, Kirton Holme, La 
Milesse Way, Little Drove, Longrigg 
Walk, Manwaring Way, Market Place, 
Michael Moses Way, Mill Lane, Milne 
Green, Monks Road, North End, Owl 
Drive, Sarthe Close, Sherbourne Close, 
South Street, Station Road, Tarry Hill, 
Viking Close. 
 

Village Hall, North 
End, Swineshead 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

NE Swineshead 1219 Abbey Gardens, Asperton Road, Bar 
Bridge, Bicker Bar, Blackjack Road, 
Browns Drove, Bullens Lane, Butlers 
Way, Church Lane, Coles Lane, Cowley 
Close, Crossgates, Dales Lane, Dances 
Bank, Drayton, Drayton Road, 
Fenhouses, Fenhouses Lane, Fishmere 
End, Golden Grove, High Green, High 
Street, Hillcrest Gardens, Hubba 
Crescent, Lockton Close, Low Grounds, 
Main Road, Mill Hill Lane, Mulberry 
Court, Packhorse Gardens, Packhorse 
Lane, South Street, St. Mary’s Crescent, 
Station Road, Steyning Lane, Stump 
Cross, Stump Cross Lane, Swin Close, 
Swineshead Bridge, Tebb’s Lane, 
Timm’s Drove, Townfield Lane, Villa 
Lane, Westfield Drive, Westminster 
Terrace. 

Village Hall, North 
End, Swineshead 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

P
age 54



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

ELECTORAL WARD: WYBERTON 

OA Wyberton 353 Wyberton – Bunker’s Hill, Causeway, 
Church Lane, Closshill Lane, Loveday 
Lane, Low Road, Marsh Road, Rowdyke 
Lane, Saundergate Lane East, Silt Pit 
Lane, Slippery Gowt Lane, Streetway, 
Tytton Lane East, Wyberton Low Road, 
Wyberton Roads. 
 

Parish Hall, London 
Road, Wyberton 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

OB Wyberton 995 Wyberton – Allerton Court, Causeway, 
Cavendish Drive, Clarke Court, Granville 
Avenue, London Road, Parthian 
Avenue, Saundergate Lane, 
Saundergate Park, Solhem Avenue, St. 
Leodegar’s Close, Winter Way.  

Parish Hall, London 
Road, Wyberton 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

OC Wyberton 1359 Wyberton – Collingwood Crescent, 
Deldale Road,Delfield Road, Five House 
Lane, London Road, Ralphs Lane, 
Solway Avenue, Spice Avenue, Tytton 
Close, Tytton Lane East, Tytton Lane 
West, Vine Crescent, West End Road, 
Woodside, Wybert Crescent, Wyberton 
West Road, Yarborough Road. 
 

Parish Hall, London 
Road, Wyberton 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

OD Wyberton 223 Wyberton – Boardsides, Chain Bridge 
Road, Five House Lane, New Hammond 
Beck Road, West end Road, Wortleys 
Lane, Wyberton Fen, Wyberton Fen 
Road. 
 

Parish Hall, London 
Road, Wyberton 

Venue is suitable for purpose with no 
access issues. 
 
No change proposed 

  

P
age 55



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

OE  48 London Road, Woodside 
(not within Wyberton Parish) 

Parish Hall, London 
Road, Wyberton 

Venue is suitable for purpose, 
conveniently located within the polling 
district with no access issues.   
 
No change proposed  
 
This polling district was created to 
accommodate a small number of 
properties that were previously located 
in what is now St. Thomas;’ Ward. 
These properties do not fall within the 
boundary of Wyberton Parish and 
electors would not therefore be eligible 
to vote in parish elections. 
 
It is proposed to continue to allocate 
electors to the Parish Hall, London 
Road, Wyberton for primary 
Borough ward purposes.  If a parish 
council election were to be 
combined with any other poll a 
separate polling station within 
Wyberton Parish Hall would be 
allocated for the OE and OF polling 
districts to ensure those electors 
were not permitted to vote in the 
parish election.  
 

  

P
age 56



Polling 
District 
Code 

Polling 
District 

No. of 
Electors 

Areas within Polling District Polling Station Returning Officer’s Proposals 

OF  424 Bell Court, Edison Way, Fleming Court, 
Sir Isaac Newton Drive, Stephenson 
Close, Whittle Close, Wyberton Low 
Road. 
(not within Wyberton Parish) 

Parish Hall, London 
Road, Wyberton  

This polling district was created to 
accommodate a small number of 
properties that were previously located 
in what is now St. Thomas’ Ward. 
These properties do not fall within the 
boundary of Wyberton Parish and 
electors would not therefore be eligible 
to vote in parish elections. 
 
It is proposed to continue to allocate 
electors to the Parish Hall, London 
Road, Wyberton for primary Borough 
ward purposes.  If a parish council 
election were to be combined with 
any other poll a separate polling 
station would be allocated within 
Wyberton Parish Hall for the OE and 
OF polling districts to ensure those 
electors were not permitted to vote in 
the parish election.  
 
Consultation responses:-  
Councillor Alison Austin: 
It is unacceptable to send residents of 
polling district OF to Wyberton Parish 
Hall to vote. Not everyone wants to do a 
postal vote but they can’t get to that 
polling station without using a car and 
yet are within 2 minutes walk of St 
Thomas’ School and they go to pick 
their children up from that school. 
 
Formerly they voted at St Thomas’ 
School and would only return the 
numbers being able to vote there to 

P
age 57



what they had been before the last 
change. 
 
We shouldn’t be making voting 
unnecessarily difficult if we want to get 
higher public engagement with local 
democracy. The local community for 
these residents IS the St Thomas area.  
 
A separate issue that I’d like to air is set 
out below: 
 
In addition to the location of the polling 
station, another issue is the impact 
upon the community of the last 
boundary review. The boundary change 
It is highly likely that another boundary 
review will return these electors to St 
Thomas’ Ward as the previous one in 
2013 failed to take account of the 
Quadrant because the planning 
application for it hadn’t been approved 
at that point. 
 
The residents all live in Skirbeck 
Quarter and so are eligible for the 
benefits of the Skirbeck Quarter 
Charities and also BTAC but NOT for 
anything relating to Wyberton Parish. 
This causes me a lot of extra work 
because I have to produce and print a 
separate newsletter or put a 
supplement in Richard’ letters to give 
these residents the required 
information.  I could have coped with 
the additional houses - the “extra” that I 
gained was Middlecott Close and the 
area around Newton’s Corner. 

P
age 58



 
In summary: 
1. Get the OF district polling at St 
Thomas’ School again. 
2. Return that district to the St Thomas’ 
Ward. 
 ______________________________ 
 
Councillor Richard Austin: 

I am pleased that this review will give 
the chance to change what is a big 
polling difficulty and anomaly for the 
residents on Sir Isaac Newton Drive, 
Skirbeck Quarter. 
 
Residents now vote for the two 
Wyberton Borough Councillors of 
Wyberton Ward but not for Wyberton 
Parish Councillors. 
 
The St Thomas's School polling station 
is very close to them on Wyberton Low 
Road close to the entrance of the 
housing estate. Most residents pass the 
school daily and many have children at 
the school. 
 
At the last election they were asked to 
make the two mile tortuous journey to 
Wyberton Parish Hall and as a result 
few did! 
 
Please ensure that, this time, they can 
vote at their local polling station St. 
Thomas’ School. 
  

P
age 59



 

 

P
age 60



 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: COUNCIL 

DATE: 21ST JANUARY 2019  

SUBJECT: MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT ARRANGEMENTS 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: N/A 

REPORT AUTHOR: MONITORING OFFICER 

EXEMPT REPORT: NO 

 

SUMMARY 
 
To consider the recommendations of the Code of Conduct Working Group and Audit and 
Governance Committee to establish a Standards Sub Committee to deal with Member 
Code of Conduct arrangements in accordance with the provisions of the Localism Act 
2011, and to reaffirm the existing Member Code of Conduct and supporting policies to 
ensure the promotion of high standards of behaviour expected of Members of the Council.  
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That a Standards Sub Committee be established from the AGM in May 2019 and the 
Terms of Reference as set out in Appendix 1 be adopted.  
 
That the Arrangements for Dealing with Member Complaints as set out at Appendix 2 be 
adopted. 
 
That the adoption of the Members’ Code of Conduct set out at Appendix 3 be reaffirmed, 
subject to it referencing all supporting policies e.g. Member Employee Protocol, Data 
Protection Protocol, Whistleblowing Policy.  Any behaviour which constituted a breach of 
any of the supporting policies would consequently be a breach of the Member Code of 
Conduct.   
 
That the revised Member Employee Protocol as set out at Appendix 4 be adopted. 
 
That the Members’ Data Protection Protocol as set out at Appendix 5 be adopted. 
 
That a recruitment exercise be undertaken to appoint two additional Independent Persons 
to support the Standards Sub Committee and participate in the Code of Conduct 
complaints process.  
 
 
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 4



 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To take account of the recommendations of the Code of Conduct Working Group convened 
to review the current policies and arrangements; subsequently recommended for approval 
by the Audit and Governance Committee.   
 
The Monitoring Officer has an obligation to monitor and keep the operation of 
the Constitution under review. The Member Code of Conduct and associated documents 
are included in the Council’s Constitution. Contributing to the promotion and maintenance 
of high standards of conduct through provision of support to the Audit and Governance 
Committee is a key function of the Monitoring Officer in providing updated Codes and 
Protocols from time to time. 
 
 

 

 
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
Not to adopt the proposed revisions. 
 
 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1 In March 2018 the Audit and Governance Committee considered a report reviewing 

the Member Code of Conduct and associated policies, which were recommended to 
full Council for approval. 
 

1.2 However, the report to Council was withdrawn prior to the meeting following 
comments from Members and it was agreed to convene a cross party Code of 
Conduct Working Group to review the policies in detail and address any concerns 
raised by Members.  
 

1.3 The Group has met on several occasions and the recommendations are set out 
below for consideration. 
 

2. Standards Sub-Committee 
 
2.1 During deliberation on the current arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct 

complaints the Group expressed the view that a separate Sub–Committee of the 
Audit and Governance Committee should be established for the governance and 
conduct aspects of the work of the Committee, rather than being within the remit of 
the full Committee.  

 
2.2 The proposal includes appointing parish councillors and a parish clerk to the sub-

committee (non-voting) to recognise the responsibility for conduct of parish 
councillors, and having a Cabinet Member (but not the Leader) as an ex officio 
member (non-voting). 

 

Page 62



2.3 The main changes in the process for dealing with standards complaints involves 
having an Assessment Panel of Members to determine if investigations should take 
place. 

 
2.4 Following receipt of a complaint the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the 

Independent Person will determine if the action or behaviour of the Member has 
potentially breached the Code of Conduct, based on knowledge, case law and 
experience.  If it is considered to be a breach, an Assessment Panel would be 
convened to decide whether or not to investigate the complaint, or seek local 
resolution, taking into account the advice of the Monitoring Officer and Independent 
Person. 

 
2.5 This would have the benefit of involving Members at an early stage in the process, 

having representation from parish Councils in respect of complaints relating to 
parish councillors, and formal involvement of the Independent Persons. 

 
2.6 The process for investigating complaints and the convening and conduct of Hearing 

Panels, if required, remain unchanged. 
 
2.7 The proposed Terms of Reference for a sub-committee are set out in Appendix 1 

and revised arrangements for dealing with standards complaints are attached at 
Appendix 2. 

 
3. The Members’ Code of Conduct 
 
3.1  Under Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 the Council is required to adopt a Code 

of Conduct to promote and maintain high standards of behaviour by its members 
and co-opted members whenever they are acting in their capacity as a member of 
the authority, or when they claim to act or give the impression of acting as 
representatives of the authority.  

 
3.2 The current Code was last revised in 2013.  The Council must ensure that its Code, 

when viewed as a whole, is consistent with the Seven Principles of Public Life. 
Following external examination of its effectiveness, it is considered appropriate to 
now look again at the provisions contained within the code to ensure it is fit for 
purpose and robust and readily upholds these Seven Principles. 

 

 Selflessness 

 Integrity 

 Objectivity 

 Accountability 

 Openness 

 Honesty  

 Leadership 
 
3.3 The current Code of Conduct includes these provisions, but requires further 

explanation as to what is conduct is acceptable and that which is not to provide 
clarity for the public, Members and employees. 

 

Page 63



3.4 If it is agreed to establish a Standards Sub-Committee, its first piece of work would 
be to review the existing Code to ensure it is fit for purpose, robust and promotes 
the high standard of behaviour expected of Members. The review would include the 
requirement to treat others with respect, equality and diversity including the Public 
Sector Equality Duty, data protection and provide clarification of the circumstances 
when the Code applies to member’s behaviour.  
 

3.5 In the meantime, it is recommended that full Council reaffirm its adoption of the 
current Member Code of Conduct, subject to it referencing all supporting policies 
e.g. Member Employee Protocol, Data Protection Protocol, Whistleblowing Policy.  
Any action or behaviour which constituted a breach of any of the supporting policies 
would consequently be a breach of the Member Code of Conduct.   

 
4. The Member Employee Protocol 
 
4.1 Members and Officers are two sides of the same coin in our pursuit of delivering 

good quality services to our community. Both Members and employees are subject 
to separate Codes of Conduct to demonstrate high standards of behaviour are 
expected of all those engaged in public service. 

 
4.2 The Member Employee Protocol provides a protocol to assist both Members and 

employees in their day to day relationships by providing clarity as to what each party 
may expect. 

 
4.3 The Council is an employer and has an obligation to provide a safe environment in 

which employees may work. Members conduct creates a vicarious liability on the 
Council in that where the conduct of a member falls short and has an impact on an 
employee, this could lead to a grievance by that employee. If not resolved, this could 
lead to claims before the Employment Tribunal. 

 
4.4 It has been suggested recently that the Member Employee Protocol was not clearly 

defined as part of the Members’ Code of Conduct. This report provides clarity that 
that the Member Employee Protocol forms part of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 
5. Members’ Data Protection Protocol  
 
5.1 Members have had the opportunity of attending several training events relating to 

Data Protection and what it means to Members and there are more opportunities 
available in future. The Data Protection Act 1998 created an approach to how 
individual’s data may be used and this has further been enhanced by the Data 
Protection Act 2018, which incorporates the provisions of the General Data 
Protection Regulations. 

 
5.2 This Protocol provides clarity for Members as to what is expected of them in 

managing and using third party data. It is the responsibility of each Member to 
ensure they have an understanding of the legal requirements personal to them 
arising from the Data Protection legislation. 

 
 
 

Page 64



 
 
6. Independent Persons 
 
6.1 Under the Localism Act 2011, the Council must appoint at least one Independent 

Person who:-  
 

o MUST be formally consulted by the authority before it makes a finding, arising 
from a formal investigation, as to whether or not a member has failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct. 

 
o May be consulted by the authority in respect of a standards complaint at any 

other stage. 
 

o May be consulted by a member or co-opted member against who a complaint 
has been made.  

 
6.2 The Independent Person is not a member of the authority – they could not for 

example chair the Standards Sub-Committee or any Hearing Panel, and they are 
accordingly not eligible for a members allowance, but the Council does pay any 
reasonable expenses arising from the role (such as travel). 

 
6.3 Independent Persons must be selected following a formal advertisement and 

interview process and can only be appointed by full Council. 
 
6.4 The Council currently has one appointed Independent Person, Mrs. Alison Fairman.  

To provide more resilience to the role to cover for absences or in circumstances 
where the IP has a conflict of interest in the complaint, it is recommended that the 
Council go out to advert to recruit an additional two suitably qualified Independent 
Persons. 

 
6.5 A person may not be appointed as an Independent Person if they:-  
 
 Are, or have been within the last 5 years, an elected or co-opted member or an 

officer of the Borough Council or any of the Parish Councils within its area. 
 
 Are, or have been within the last 5 years, an elected or co-opted member of any 

committee or sub-committee of the Borough Council or any of the Parish Councillors 
within its area. 

 
 Is a relative or close friend of a current elected or co-opted member or officer of the 

Borough Council or any Parish Council within its area or of any elected or co-opted 
member of any committee or sub-committee of such Council. 

 
CONCLUSION 
 
The Code and Protocols are designed to provide greater clarity to all those stakeholders 
who may be involved with the Council to enhance confidence and trust in the way in which 
we operate. 
 

Page 65



The appointment of additional Independent Persons will provide resilience to the role in 
cases of absence or where a conflict of interest arises.  
 
The report was considered by the Audit and Governance Committee at its meeting on 10 
December and the recommendations referred to Council for approval.  
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Council is required to adopt a Members Code of Conduct and arrangements for 
dealing with standards complaints in accordance with Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 

 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Equality Act 2010 introduced the Public Sector Equality Duty. This duty applies to the 
exercise of all public functions. The duty applies to all of the decisions made in the course 
of exercising public functions, not just to policy development and high-level decision-
making.  Those who exercise its functions must be aware of the general equality duty’s 
requirements. Compliance with the general equality duty involves a conscious approach 
and state of mind. General regard to the issue of equality is not enough to comply.  
 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
CMT 
Code of Conduct Working Group 
Audit and Governance Committee 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 
APPENDIX 2 
 
APPENDIX 3 
 
APPENDIX 4 
 
APPENDIX 5 
 

Terms of Reference for a Standards Sub-Committee  
 
Arrangements for Dealing with Standards Complaints 
 
Members’ Code of Conduct  
 
Draft Revised Member Employee Protocol 
 
Draft Members’ Data Protection Protocol 
 

 

Page 66



 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 
 

Localism Act 2011 Democratic Services and 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted 
 

 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
Audit and Governance Committee – 10 December 2018  
 

 
 

Page 67

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

Proposed Terms of Reference for a Standards Sub-Committee 

of the Audit and Governance Committee  

 
1. Composition  
 
1.1 The sub-committee consists of five Members of Boston Borough Council 

drawn from the membership of the Audit and Governance Committee, two 
Independent Persons, and two Parish Councillors and a Parish Clerk from the 
parishes within the Borough area.   The Independent Persons and Parish 
representatives will be appointed by full Council and will not have voting 
rights. 

 
1.2 Only one Boston Borough Council Member shall be a Member of its Cabinet 

and the Leader of the Council shall not be that Member and that Member shall 
serve ex officio (non voting).  

 
2. Role and Functions of the Sub-Committee  
 

 To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members and co-
opted members.  

 

 To monitor the operation of and compliance with the Local Codes of 
Conduct/Protocols. 

 

 All matters arising from or relating to the Local Codes of Conduct/Protocols. 
 

 Advising the Audit and Governance Committee and Council on the 
adoption or revision of a local Code of Conduct. 

 

 To consider and determine allegations and make arrangements under 
which allegations about Members’ conduct can be investigated.  

 

 To make arrangements under which decisions on allegations about 
Members’ conduct can be made under Section 28(6) of the Localism Act 
2011. 

 

 To advise on or arrange for the training of Members and/or co-opted 
members of the Council on matters relating to the Code of Conduct. 

 

 The monitoring of and issues relating to the declarations of interests and 
offer/receipt of gifts and hospitality by Members.  

 

 Issues arising from breaches of confidentiality and the disclosure of exempt 
information by Members.  

 

Page 69



 Any matter raised by the District Auditor in relation to matters within the 
remit of the Committee. 

 

 To receive reports on Member dispensations granted by the Monitoring 
Officer 

 

 The sub-Committee will also act as the Standards Committee in relation to 
the Parish Councils wholly in its area and the Members of those Parish 
Councils.  

 
3. Role and Functions of the Assessment Panel and Hearings Panel 
 

An Assessment Panel has been established with the following function:-  
 

 To receive and determine whether complaints about Councillor’s conduct 
should be investigated or other action taken. 

 
A Hearings Panel has been established with the following function:- 

 

 To determine complaints referred for investigation where it is 
recommended by the Monitoring Officer that a breach of the Code of 
Conduct has been established or where the Standards Sub-Committee 
considers that a breach of the Code of Conduct has been disclosed.  

 
4. Composition of the Assessment Panel and Hearing Panel  
 

The Assessment Panel and Hearings Panel will be drawn from the 
membership of the Standards Sub-Committee to be selected on a meeting by 
meeting basis.  The Assessment Panel shall comprise of three Members of 
the Council drawn from different political groups, where practicable.  Where 
the complaint involves a Parish Councillor, a parish representative will serve 
on the Assessment Panel with two Boston Borough Council elected Members, 
drawn from different political groups, where practicable.  The Hearings Panel 
shall comprise of three Members of the Council serving on the Standards Sub 
Committee drawn from at least two different political groups, where 
practicable, one Independent Person and one Parish representative. 

 
5. Quorum  
 

The quorum for the Standards sub-committee shall be three Members of 
Boston Borough Council and one Independent Member.   

 
 

Page 70



Appendix 2 
 

Arrangements for dealing with standards allegations under 
the Localism Act 2011 

 
1. Context 

 

1.1 These “Arrangements” set out how complaints may be made that an elected 
or co-opted member of Boston Borough Council or of a parish council within 
the Borough area has failed to comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct, 
and sets out how the authority will deal with allegations of a failure to comply 
with the authority’s Code of Conduct. 
 

1.2 Under Section 28(6) and (7) of the Localism Act 2011, the Council must have 
in place “arrangements” under which allegations that a member or co-opted 
member of the authority or of a parish council within the authority’s area or of 
a Committee or Sub-Committee of the authority, has failed to comply with that 
authority’s Code of Conduct can be investigated and decisions made on such 
allegations.  
 

1.3 Such arrangements must provide for the authority to appoint at least one 
Independent Person, whose views must be sought by the authority before it 
takes a decision on an allegation which it has decided shall be investigated, 
and whose views can be sought by the authority at any other stage, or by a 
member or a member or co-opted member of a parish council against whom 
an allegation has been made. 
 

2. The Code of Conduct 
 

2.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for members, which is attached 
as Appendix 1 to these arrangements and available for inspection on the 
authority’s website and on request from Reception at the Borough Council’s 
Offices. 
 

2.2 Each parish council is also required to adopt a Code of Conduct. If you wish 
to inspect a Parish Council’s Code of Conduct, you should inspect any 
website operated by the parish council and request the parish clerk to allow 
you to inspect the parish council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

3. Making a complaint 
 

3.1 If you wish to make a complaint, please write or email to – 
 
The Monitoring Officer 
Municipal Buildings 
West Street 
Boston  PE21 8QR 
E-mail: feedback@boston.gov.uk  

 

Page 71

mailto:feedback@boston.gov.uk


3.2 In order to ensure that we have all the information which we need to be able 
to process your complaint, please write to or e-mail the Monitoring Officer or 
complete and send us the model complaint form, which can be downloaded 
from the authority’s website and is available on request from Reception at the 
Borough Council Offices. 
 

3.3 Please provide us with your name and a contact address or email address, so 
that we can acknowledge receipt of your complaint and keep you informed of 
its progress. If you want to keep your name and address confidential, please 
indicate this in the space provided on the complaint form, in which case we 
will not disclose your name and address to the member against whom you 
make the complaint, without your prior consent. The authority may investigate 
anonymous complaints, but will generally only do so where there is a clear 
public interest in doing so. 
 

3.4 The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of your complaint within 5 
working days of receiving it, and will keep you informed of the progress of 
your complaint. 
 

3.5 A complaint can only be considered if it concerns the conduct of a Member.  
Complaints about members of staff (including parish clerks) and decisions 
taken by the Council or a parish council cannot be considered.  
 

3.6 For a matter to be considered by the Sub-Committee it must fall within the 
authority’s legal jurisdiction.  Therefore, if any of the following are clear from 
the complaint the allegation will not be put before the Assessment Panel for 
consideration:-  
 

 Where it is clear from the complaint that the Member the subject of the 
complaint was not acting in an official capacity at the time the alleged 
conduct occurred. 

 

 Where the conduct complained of is a continuation of a situation/set of 
circumstances relating to the same Council, which the Assessment Panel 
has previously considered and determined not to take any action on. 

 

 Where the individual the subject of the complaint is not a Member at the 
time the complaint is submitted.  

 

 The Monitoring Officer is given delegated authority by the Council to 
consider the age and seriousness of the complaint in determining whether 
it should be submitted to the Assessment Panel. 

 
3.7 On receiving the complaint the Monitoring Officer will contact the Member 

complained of (Subject Member) to seek their views on the circumstances 
surrounding the allegation.  

 
3.8 The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with an Independent Person, within 20 

working days shall determine if the complaint potentially constitutes a breach 

Page 72



of the Code of Conduct taking into account legislation, professional 
knowledge and case law.   

 
3.9 If the allegation is found to be a potential breach of the Code it will be referred 

to the Assessment Panel for consideration of whether it warrants investigation 
or other action.  

 
4 Standards Sub-Committee Assessment Panel  

 

4.1 Arrangements will be made to convene a Standards Sub-Committee 
Assessment Panel for consideration of the complaint within 30 working days 
of receiving it, or as soon as practicable to convene it.  
 

4.2 The Assessment Panel will comprise of three Boston Borough Council elected 
Members of the Council’s Standards Sub Committee, drawn from at least two 
different political groups, where practicable, and not from the Group of the 
subject member. Where the complaint involves a Parish Councillor, a parish 
representative will serve on the Assessment Panel, but not from the parish of 
the subject member, with two Boston Borough Council elected Members of 
the Council’s Standards Sub Committee, drawn from different political groups, 
where practicable. The appointment of a Chairman of the Panel will be the 
first item of business at each meeting.  

 
4.3 The Independent Person will be invited to attend all meetings of the 

Assessment Panel and their views will be sought and taken into consideration 
before the Assessment Panel takes any decision on whether a complaint 
should be investigated.  If the Independent Person is unable to attend in 
person they may submit their views in writing.  
 

4.4 The Monitoring Officer will circulate with the agenda papers for the meeting a 
pre-assessment report for each complaint received, which will contain a brief 
overview of the complaint, including further information submitted/obtained to 
assist the Panel with its decision (relevant minutes, register of interests etc.), 
relevant paragraphs of the Code of Conduct and a recommendation. 
 

4.5 For a matter to be considered by the Panel it must fall within the Authority’s 
legal jurisdiction.  Therefore, the pre-assessment report will also confirm:-  
 

 That the person the subject of the complaint was a Member of Boston 
Borough Council or a parish council within the Boston Borough Council 
area at the time the alleged conduct occurred. 

 

 That a Code of Conduct was in operation at the time the alleged 
conduct took place.  

 
4.6 If any of these questions are answered in the negative the complaint cannot 

be investigated as a breach of the Code and will not be put before the 
Assessment Panel for consideration. 
 
 

Page 73



 
 
 

5. Assessment Panel – Possible Decisions  
 

5.1 The Panel, being satisfied that the Authority has the legal jurisdiction to 
consider the complaint, will then use the agreed assessment criteria to reach 
a decision on the action, if any to be taken. 
 

5.2 The Panel must also be satisfied that the conduct complained of, if proven, 
could amount to a breach of the Code of Conduct.  Again, if this is not the 
case, the complaint cannot be investigated.  
 

5.3 The Assessment Panel can make the following decisions:-  
 

 That the matter be referred to the Monitoring Officer for investigation.  

 That the matter be referred to the Monitoring Officer for ‘other 
action’/local resolution. 

 That no further action be taken, either because:-  
 No breach of the Code of Conduct has been evidenced, or  
 It is felt, based on the information submitted, that investigation of 

the complaint would not be merited. 
 
NB: There is no right of appeal to the decision that no further action be taken 
on the complaint. 
 

5.4 The decision of the Panel will be sent to the complainant, the subject Member 
and the clerk to the appropriate parish council, in the form of a decision 
notice, within five working days of the Panel Hearing. 
 

6. Other Action / Local Resolution 
 

6.1 The Assessment Panel may consider that the matter can reasonably be 
resolved without the need for a hearing. In such a case, the Panel may 
request the Monitoring Officer to take other action or seek a local resolution.   

 
6.2 Examples of other action/local resolution will include:-  
 

 Advising the subject Member/Council concerned to undertake training 

 Advising the subject Member and complainant to engage in a process of 
conciliation 

 Advising the subject Member to accept that their conduct was 
unacceptable and to offer an apology 

 Instituting changes to procedures of the Council if they have given rise to 
the complaint. 

 
6.3 If the subject Member complies with the suggested resolution, the Monitoring 

Officer will report the matter to the Standards Sub Committee and the Parish 
Council for information, if applicable, but will take no further action.  
 

Page 74



6.4 If the subject Member is not willing to comply with the suggested resolution, 
the complaint will be referred back to the Assessment Panel for a decision as 
to whether or not the complaint should be investigated. 
 
 

7. Referral for investigation 
 

7.1 If the Assessment Panel decides that a complaint merits formal investigation, 
the Monitoring Officer will investigate the complaint or appoint an Investigating 
Officer who will contact the parties concerned.   
 

7.2 The Monitoring Officer/Investigating Officer will seek to complete the 
investigation within three months of the complaint being referred by the 
Assessment Panel.  

 
7.3 At the end of his/her investigation, the Monitoring Officer/Investigating Officer 

will produce a draft report and will send copies of that draft report, in 
confidence, to the complainant and to the member concerned, to give both an 
opportunity to identify any matter in that draft report which they disagree with 
or consider requires more consideration. If the investigation has been 
conducted externally the Investigating Officer will in the first instance send 
their report to the Monitoring Officer for comments, prior to wider circulation.   
 

7.4 Having received and taken account of any comments which the complainant 
and the Member subject of the complaint may make on the draft report, the 
Monitoring Officer will produce a final report if investigating the complaint 
himself/herself or the Investigating Officer will send his/her final report to the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
7.5 The Monitoring Officer/Investigating Officer can make one of two findings, 

namely:- 
 

 That no breach of the Code of Conduct has been found / no further 
action to be taken 

 That the conduct complained of potentially breaches the Code of 
Conduct. 

 
7.6 Where it is concluded that no breach of the Code of Conduct has been found 

or that no further action should be taken the matter ends.  
 

7.7 Where the Investigating Officer concludes that the conduct complained of 
potentially breaches the Code of Conduct a Hearings Panel will be convened 
within three months of completion of the investigation.   

 
8. Local Hearing 

 
8.1 If the Assessment Panel considers that local resolution is not appropriate, or 

the member concerned is not prepared to undertake any proposed remedial 
action, such as giving an apology, then the Monitoring Officer’s/Investigation 
Officer’s report will be referred to the Hearings Panel which will conduct a 

Page 75



local hearing before deciding whether the member has failed to comply with 
the Code of Conduct and, if so, whether to take any action in respect of the 
member. 

 
9. Procedure to be followed at a Local Hearing  
 
 Convening the Meeting and Access to Papers  
 
9.1 The Hearing Panel shall be convened in accordance with the Council’s 

access to Information Rules with the agenda and accompanying documents 
published five clear working days in advance of the meeting.  Schedule 12A 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) will be applied to exclude the 
public and press from the meetings of the Hearings Panel and to prevent the 
recording of the proceedings where it is likely that confidential or exempt 
information will be disclosed.  

 
 Attendance  
 
9.2 The Panel will comprise of five members- three Boston Borough Councillors 

(from at least two political groups from the membership of the Standards Sub-
Committee, where practicable), one parish council representative and one 
Independent Person, to be selected on a meeting by meeting basis. The 
quorum for the meeting is three councillors.  Once the meeting has begun all 
members must remain throughout the Hearing and during any deliberations.  

 
9.3 The Subject Member will be expected to attend the Hearing.  If they fail to 

attend and where the Panel is not satisfied with any explanation for their 
absence, they may have regard to any written representations submitted by 
the Subject Member and may resolve to proceed with the hearing in the 
Subject Member’s absence and make a determination.  If satisfied with the 
Subject Member’s reasons for not attending, the Panel may adjourn the 
hearing to another date.  The Panel may resolve in exceptional 
circumstances, that it will proceed with the hearing on the grounds that it is in 
the public interest to hear the allegations expeditiously. 

 
9.4 The Subject Member may choose to be accompanied by a legal 

representative or other person (such as a friend or colleague).  This person 
must not be directly involved in any of the allegations being considered by the 
Panel.  The participation of the Subject Member’s representative will be 
allowed. 

 
9.5 The Monitoring Officer, Investigating Officer and other legal advisor as 

nominated by the Monitoring Officer may also be present, as well as a Clerk. 
 
9.6 The complainant may also be present.  
 
 Conduct of the Hearing  
 
9.7 Subject to paragraph 9.28, the Hearing Panel will consider the following items 

of business:-  

Page 76



 

 Election of Chairman; 

 Declarations of Interest; 

 In the absence of the Subject Member, consideration of whether or not to 
proceed with the Hearing; 

 To decide on whether to exclude the public and the application of the 
public interest test; 

 The complaint 

 Advisory Notice (if applicable) 
 

Dealing with the Complaint 
 
 Investigating Officer  
  
9.8 The Investigating Officer will present their report, including any documentary 

evidence or other material.  They may also provide witness statements.  No 
new points shall be introduced unless agreed by the Panel and the other 
parties.  There is a requirement for the Investigating Officer to attend the 
hearing and present their report.  Since the report will have been circulated to 
the Panel and to the Subject Member in advance of the hearing, the 
Investigating Officer’s presentation should briefly summarise the report and 
other material, amend errors, provide updates and clarify the written report.  

 
9.9 After the Investigating Officer has presented the report and after any 

witnesses have given their evidence, the Subject Member or their 
representative may question the Investigating Officer about any matter in the 
Investigating Officer’s report or witness statement.  

 
9.10 After the Investigating Officer has presented the report and after any 

witnesses have given their evidence, members of the Hearings Panel may 
ask questions of the Investigating Officer and any witnesses whose 
statements have been provided by the Investigating Officer. 

 
Subject Member  

 
9.11 The Subject Member or their representative (the latter only with the 

agreement of the Chairman) may then present their case and call witnesses.  
They should provide a written summary of their case no less than five clear 
working days in advance of the hearing.  No new points should be introduced 
unless agreed by the Panel and the other parties. 

 
9.12 The Investigating Officer may question the Subject Member and any 

witnesses called by the Investigating Officer. 
 
9.13 Members of the Hearings Panel may ask questions of the Subject Member 

and any witnesses called by the Subject Member.  
 
 Summing Up 
 
9.14 The Investigating Officer will sum up the complaint 

Page 77



 
9.15 The Independent Person will be invited to express their views 
 
9.16 The Subject Member or their representative will be given the final word. 
 
 Deliberations  
 
9.17 The Panel, when deliberating on the complaint, will adjourn the Hearing to 

consider the matter in private.  They will consider whether or not, on the facts 
presented to the Panel, the Subject Member has failed to comply with the 
Code of Conduct and they will also consider a provisional view on appropriate 
Advisory Notices.  

 
9.18 Only the Monitoring Officer (or their nominee) and Clerk will remain with the 

Panel to offer legal and procedural advice if needed. If the Monitoring Officer 
is also the Investigating Officer their nominee will act as advisor to the Panel.  

 
9.19 The Panel may reconvene at any time to seek additional information from the 

Investigating Officer, Subject Member or witnesses.  The Panel will then 
adjourn to continue their deliberations.  

 
9.20 The Panel will reach decisions on the findings of fact based on the balance of 

probabilities.  
 
 Announcing the Decision on the findings of fact on the basis of probability  
 
9.21  The Panel will reconvene the hearing in public and the Chairman will 

announce whether or not on the facts found, the Panel considers that there 
has been a breach of the Code of Conduct and their provisional view on 
issuing of Advisory Notices. 

 
9.22 If the Panel has found that there has been a breach, the Independent Person 

and the Subject Member will be invited to make representations about the 
Advisory Notice which the Panel is minded to impose.  

 
9.23 If representations about the Advisory Notice are made, the Panel will then 

adjourn to consider the Advisory Notice.  Only the Monitoring Officer (or their 
nominee) and the Clerk will remain with the Panel to offer legal or procedural 
advice if needed.  When deciding whether to apply one or more Advisory 
Notices, the Panel will ensure that the application of any Advisory Notice is 
reasonable and proportionate to the Subject Member’s behaviour. 

 
9.24 Having taken into account the representations of the Independent Person and 

the Subject Member on the application of sanctions, the Panel will reconvene 
the hearing in public and the Chairman will announce: 

 
 (i) the Advisory Notice (if any); 

(ii) the recommendations (if any) to be made to the Council, Parish 
Council if relevant or Monitoring Officer. 

  

Page 78



9.25 If the Hearings Panel conclude that the member did not fail to comply with the 
Code of Conduct, the complaint will be dismissed.  

 
 
 Publication and notification of the Hearing Panel’s decision and 

recommendations  
 
9.26 Within 20 working days of the announcement of the Panel’s decision the 

Monitoring Officer will provide a full written decision and the reasons for the 
decision, including any recommendations to: 

 
 (a) the Subject Member 
 (b) the Complainant 
 (c) the Chief Executive  
 
 and will publish details of the Hearing Panel’s decision, including Subject 

Member and a summary of the Panel’s decision and recommendations and 
reasons for the decision and recommendations on the Council’s website.  

 
9.27 The Monitoring Officer will report the Hearing Panel’s decision and 

recommendations to the next meeting of the Standards Sub-Committee for 
information.  

 
 Variations to the Procedures at the Hearing Panel 
 
9.28 The Chairman may exercise his/her discretion and amend the order of 

business, where he/she considers that it is expedient to do so in order to the 
secure the effective and fair consideration of any matter.  

 
 

10. Action the Hearings Panel may take where a member has failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct 
 

10.1 The Council has delegated to the Hearings Panel such of its powers to take 
action in respect of individual members as may be necessary to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct. Accordingly the Hearings Panel may – 
 

 Publish its findings in respect of the member’s conduct; 
 

 Report its findings to Council or to the Parish Council for information; 
 

 Recommend to the member’s Group Leader (or in the case of un-grouped 
members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that he/she be 
removed from any or all Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council 
with the exception of those they sit on by right i.e. full Council and Boston 
Town Area Committee; 

 

 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the member be removed 
from the Cabinet, or removed from particular Portfolio responsibilities; 

 

Page 79



 Instruct the Monitoring Officer, or recommend that the Parish Council, 
advises the member to seek and attend training; 

 

 Remove, or recommend to the Parish Council that it removes, the member 
from all outside appointments to which he/she has been appointed or 
nominated by the authority or by the Parish Council; 

 

 Withdraw, or recommend to the Parish Council that it withdraws, facilities 
provided to the member by the Council, such as a computer, website 
and/or email and Internet access; or 

 

 Exclude, or recommend that the Parish Council exclude, the member from 
the Council’s offices or other premises, with the exception of meeting 
rooms as necessary for attending Council, Committee and Sub-Committee 
meetings. 

 
10.2 The Hearings Panel has no power to suspend or disqualify the member or to 

withdraw members’ or special responsibility allowances. 
 
11. The Independent Person(s) 

 
11.1 The Independent Person is a person who has applied for the post following 

advertisement of a vacancy for the post, and is the appointed by a positive 
vote from a majority of all the members of Council. 
 

11.2 A person cannot be “independent” if he/she – 
 
(a) Is, or has been within the past 5 years, a member, co-opted member or  

officer of the authority; 
 

(b) Is or has been within the past 5 years, a member, co-opted member or 
officer of a parish council within the authority’s area, or 
 

(c) Is a relative or close friend, of a person within paragraph 11.2(a) or 
11.2 (b) above. For this purpose, “relative” means – 
 
(i)  Spouse or civil partner; 

 
(ii) Living with the other person as husband and wife or as if they 

were civil partners; 
 

(iii)  Grandparent of the other person; 
 

(iv)  A lineal descendent of a grandparent of the other person; 
 

(v) A parent, sibling or child of a person within paragraphs (i) and 
(ii) above; 

 
(vi) A spouse or civil partner of a person within paragraphs (iii), (iv), 

and (v) above; or 

Page 80



 
(vii) Living with a person within paragraphs (iii), (v) and (v) above as 

husband and wife or as if they were civil partners. 
 
12. Appeals 

 
12.1 There is no right of appeal for the complainant or for the member against a 

decision of the Assessment Panel or of the Hearings Panel 
 

 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Investigating Officer 
finds no breach: 

- MO satisfied – 
notify 
complainant/council 
lor/parish council 
- MO dissatisfied – 
request 
reconsideration 
- Where the MO is 
the Investigating 
Officer, the DMO 
will review the 
report and vice-
versa  

CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS 
FLOWCHART 

 
 

Complaint received in 
writing or in person by 
the Monitoring Officer 

Monitoring Officer: 

 Acknowledge complaint within 5 working days 

 Undertake preliminary jurisdiction test: 

- Code of conduct adopted? 
- in office at time of alleged conduct? 

- acting in an official capacity as a councillor?  
- acting as a member of another authority? 
- capable of a breach of the code of conduct?  
- dissatisfaction with decision, priorities/policy? 

If complaint valid: 

 Request views of Subject Member within 20 working days 

 Obtain views of Independent Person
 

 
 

Complaint considered by Monitoring 
Officer (in consultation with the 

Independent Person) 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  

Assessment Criteria: 
 

- General: -sufficient/reliable/relevant evidence? 
- will investigation prove whether or not potential breach? 
- minor/ trivial matter? 
- useful purpose/public benefit in taking action? 
- potential breach sufficiently serious? 
Mitigating factors (action less likely): 
- previous investigation? 
- historical (potential breach more than 28 days before)? 
- no firm evidence available? 
- technical or inadvertent potential breach? 
- Member took advice and followed? 
- complaint malicious, vexatious, politically motivated or tit-for-tat? 
- complainant involved press? 
- Member already provided remedy? 
- Innocent breach? 
- Unreasonable provocation? 
- Member seriously ill/deceased? 
- Member no longer a councillor? 
Aggravating factors (action more likely): 
- bullying/intimidation involved 
- potential serious effect on reputation of council/staff relations/public   
 trust and confidence? 
- Senior Member? 
- pattern of behaviour? 
- Member failed to follow advice? 
- Potential breach of equality act? 

 

Appointment of Investigating Officer or 
Monitoring Officer investigates 

 Monitoring Officer will determine whether in-
house or external investigation. 

Investigation report to include: 

 Agreed facts 

 Facts not agreed and 
corresponding conflicting evidence 

 Conclusion on whether a breach of the 
Code or not 

 

 
 

 

 

Hearings Sub Committee to: 

 Arbitrate on facts and conclude whether 
a breach of the Code has occurred 

 Seek and have regard to views 
of Independent Person 

Decision in consultation with Independent Person/Parish 
Rep: 

1. No Further Action 
2. Informal Resolution 
3. Formal Sanction 

Investigating Officer 
finds breach: 

- Report referred to 
Hearings Sub- 
Committee for formal 
hearing or 
- After 
consultation with 
IP seek local 
resolution 

Referral for 
investigation 

Informal 
resolution 

with 
agreement of 

member 

Complaint 
rejected with 

reasons 

Potentially criminal 
conduct/breach of 
other regulations 

Alleged breach of 
Code of Conduct 

Refer to 
Assessment panel 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 3 

PART 5 (SECTION A) 
 

BOSTON MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

Adopted by the Council on 25th July 2012 
(Revised Code adopted by Council on 10th June 2013) 

 
Boston Borough Council has adopted this code setting out the expected behaviours 
required of its Members or co-opted members, acknowledging that they each have a 
responsibility to represent the community and work constructively with our staff and 
partner organisations to secure better social, economic and environmental outcomes 
for all.  
 
In accordance with the Localism Act provisions, when acting in this capacity all 
Councillors must be committed to behaving in a manner that is consistent with the 
following principles to achieve best value for our residents and maintain public 
confidence in this authority.  
 

SELFLESSNESS: Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public 
interest.   
 
INTEGRITY: Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any 
obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might try inappropriately to 
influence them in their work.  They should not act or take decisions in order to gain 
financial or material benefits for themselves, their family or their friends.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships. 
 
OBJECTIVITY: Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, 
fairly and on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 
 
ACCOUNTABILITY: Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions 
and actions to the public and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to 
ensure this.  
 
OPENNESS: Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and 
transparent manner.. Information should not be withheld from the public unless 
there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing.  

 
HONESTY: Holders of public office should be truthful. 
 
LEADERSHIP: Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own 
behaviour.  They should actively promote and robustly support the principles and 
be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

 

Page 85



 

The Act further provides for registration and disclosure of interests and in Boston 
Borough Council this will be done as follows:  
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
On taking up office a Member or co-opted member must, within 28 days of becoming 
such, notify the Monitoring Officer of any ‘disclosable pecuniary interests’, as 
prescribed by the Secretary of State. 
 
On re-election or re-appointment, a Member or co-opted member must, within 28 
days, notify the Monitoring Officer of any ‘disclosable pecuniary interests’ not already 
included in his or her register of interests. 
 
If a Member or co-opted member is aware that they have a ‘disclosable pecuniary 
interest’ in a matter they must formally declare that interest in meetings, withdraw 
from the meeting while any discussion or vote on any matter relating to it takes place, 
taking no part in the debate or vote, except that they may take part in any public 
speaking scheme at the meeting, but must leave the room immediately after having 
so participated. 
 
If a Member or co-opted member is aware of a ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ in a 
matter under consideration at a meeting, but such interest is not already on the 
Council’s register of interests or in the process of entry onto the register having been 
notified to the Monitoring Officer, the member or co-opted member must disclose the 
‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ to the meeting and register it within 28 days of the 
meeting at which it is first disclosed.  
 
 Local Choice Interests  
 
Members must register with the Democratic Services Manager details of any body of 
which they are a member or in a position of general control or management either:- 
 
 (1) exercising functions of a public nature; or 
 (2) directed to charitable purposes; or 

(3) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion 
or policy (including any political party or trade union) 

 
(Registration is to be made via a form provided by Democratic Services which will be 
published on the Council’s website and be open for public inspection) 
 
Conflict of Interests  
 
At a meeting, Members must declare any interest which they have in any matter to 
be considered at that meeting. 
 
A conflict of interest arises where a Member, a close associate, immediate family, 
firm, organisation or employer has an interest in a matter which is the same as, 
connected to or may be affected by the matter under discussion. 
 

Page 86



 

Members who have a conflict of interest may be present to make representations, 
answer queries and provide supporting evidence, but should leave the room at the 
point the meeting moves to reach its decision.  Their leaving the room should be 
recorded in the minutes. 
 
Where a Member, a close associate, immediate family, firm, organisation or employer 
has an interest in the matter being discussed which a member of the public who 
knew of the facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to 
prejudice the Members judgement of the Council’s interest in the matter, then they 
must declare the interest at the start of the agenda item, must not vote on the matter 
and must leave the room until the agenda item has been concluded.  However, 
nothing shall preclude a Member from acting as a member of the public and 
addressing the meeting as part of the Council’s public speaking scheme, but they 
must then leave the room after having so participated.  
 
If any Member fails to declare a conflict of interest they may be subject to allegations 
of improper conduct.  

 

Registration of Gifts and Hospitality 
 
Members must register in the Register of Members Gifts and Hospitality, held by the 
Democratic Services Manager, any gift or hospitality worth £50 or over received (or 
offered), in connection with their official duties as a member and the source of that 
gift or hospitality (or offer) within 28 days of receiving it. 
 
Acceptance by Members of hospitality through attendance at relevant conferences 
and courses is acceptable where it is clear the hospitality is corporate rather than 
personal and where the Member is satisfied that any purchasing decisions will not be 
compromised. 

 

Supporting Policies 
 
The policies supporting this Code of Conduct include the Member Employee 
Protocol, Members Data Protection Protocol, Whistleblowing Policy, Grievance Policy 
etc.  Any action or behaviour which constituted a breach of any of the supporting 
policies would consequently be a breach of the Member Code of Conduct.   
 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 
PROTOCOL ON MEMBER AND EMPLOYEE RELATIONS 

 
1.  Introduction  
 
1.1 Government guidance for the preparation of local authority constitutions refers 

to the perceived requirement for a protocol to underpin member/officer 
relations. This accords with the recommendations of the Nolan Committee’s 
Report on Standards of Conduct in Local Government that every local 
authority should have its own written statement or protocol governing relations 
between members and officers.  
 
Please note the term “Officer” is not considered to be as inclusive as 
“employee” due to the professional nature of the roles Officers are deemed to 
undertake, which does not necessarily include all staff. Therefore, this 
Protocol applies to all employees of the Council and where the term “Officer” 
is used, that person is also considered an employee. 

 
 
1.2  The guidance suggests that protocols should be developed locally to reflect 

local political arrangements and approaches but gives an indication of those 
areas that are expected to be covered in each protocol. In adopting this 
protocol, the Council has had regard to broad headings proposed in the 
guidance.  

 
1.3.1 The purpose of this protocol is to guide members and employees of the 

Council in their relationships with one another. Generally, it is not intended to 
be prescriptive or comprehensive and seeks simply to offer guidance on some 
of the issues that most commonly arise but it should be noted that where 
members or officers do not comply with the Protocol, this could give rise to a 
breach under the Members’ Code of Conduct or the Officer Code of Conduct. 
 

 
2.  Principles Underlying Member/Employee Relations  
 
2.1  The Nolan Report suggests that;  
 

‘No local authority can function properly without a good relationship between 
its councillors and its officers. Where the relationship breaks down, an 
atmosphere of suspicion or dislike can make it very difficult to devise and 
implement policies in any consistent way.’  
 
The general principles which govern the conduct of members (selflessness, 
honesty and integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, personal 
judgement, respect for others, duty to uphold the law, stewardship and 
leadership) which are embodied in The Relevant Authorities (General 
Principles) Order 2001 require members to respect the impartiality and 
integrity of an authority’s statutory officers and other employees. Those 
principles are equally appropriate for employees in their dealings with 
members.  

 

Page 89



 
2.2  This protocol should also be read in conjunction with the Members Code of 

Conduct and Officer Code of Conduct which are designed to ensure high 
standards of conduct and probity within the Council. Together they contribute 
to the effective and efficient transaction of Council business and ensuring that 
the Council is not brought into disrepute. The main principles that underpin 
the codes are:-  

  
 

 Mutual respect and courtesy both between members and between 
officers and members;  
 

 An awareness of each other’s responsibilities and duties; 
 

 Equal treatment, regardless of personal, political opinions or any other 
factor; 

 

 An adherence to the law and the lawful instructions and advice of 
others; 

 

 An avoidance of close personal familiarity. 
 

Public confidence in the integrity and honesty of both members and 
employees is critical to the Council’s community leadership role and 
compliance with the Codes and this Protocol will serve to enhance local 
democracy. 

 
 
3.  The Roles of Members and Employees  
 
3.1  The roles of members and employees have changed with the Local 

Government Act 2000 and the introduction of executive decision-making (the 
great majority of decisions now fall within the remit of the Cabinet). The 
greater impact upon the time of individual members brought about by the new 
system has tended to blur the traditional distinction between the roles of 
members and employees. Nevertheless members and employees do have 
separate roles which should be readily distinguishable. These are defined 
more specifically in the Council’s constitution.  

 
3.2  Members are democratically elected and are accountable to the electorate for 

their actions. An important feature of each member’s role is to represent the 
interests of his/her constituents, irrespective of how they may have voted in 
an election. The expectation is that members will be more aware of the views 
of their constituents on major policy developments before decisions are made. 
The Executive Leader and other executive councillors are responsible for the 
delivery of those policies. Members who sit on overview and scrutiny have an 
important role in both holding the executive to account and in contributing to 
policy development. Members of regulatory panels make decisions on 
applications by the public for permissions and licences of varying types.  

 

Page 90



3.3  Employees are responsible for day-to-day managerial and operational 
decisions within the Council and should provide support to both the executive 
and all members in their several roles. They are employed by and 
accountable to the Council as a whole under the ultimate authority of the 
Head of Paid Service. The Cabinet system can create tensions and conflicts 
of interest for employees servicing both the executive and overview and 
scrutiny and the executive and the Council. Members should recognise the 
potential difficulties that this can present and should respect the obligation 
placed on employees to serve the Council as a whole.  

 
3.4  In this protocol, any reference to a senior officer is a reference to the Head of 

Paid Service, Corporate Directors and Heads of Service as defined in the 
Council’s constitution.  

 
3.5  Certain employees, commonly referred to as “statutory officers”, derive some 

duties and responsibilities directly from legislation. The Council’s statutory 
officers are –  

 

 the Head of the Paid Service is the Council’s principal adviser on 
matters of general policy;  
 

 the Council’s Monitoring Officer is required to report on any proposals, 
decisions or omissions which in their view are likely to result in a 
contravention of the law or which fail to comply with legal duties, are 
unjust or fail to take account of an applicable code of practice; and  

 

 the Director of Resources, who as the Council’s Chief Financial Adviser 
is required to report on any proposal, decision or course of action 
which would involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful or is 
likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council was proposing to 
enter an item of account unlawfully.  

 
3.6  There may be occasions when a Statutory Officer’s responsibilities may 

conflict or not wholly correspond with a strategy, policy, decision or course of 
action proposed/taken by the Council or a member. In those circumstances 
members should acknowledge the primacy of the statutory responsibilities 
and treat the Statutory Officer with the same courtesy and respect shown to 
them and to other employees in all other dealings.  

 
4.  Employer/Employee Issues  
 
4.1  Any dealings between members and employees should be conducted with 

mutual respect, trust and courtesy. The Council is an employer and Members 
should have due regard to their role in dealings with employees and be 
conscious that inappropriate conduct or behaviour on their part could lead to a 
case being brought to an employment tribunal by an aggrieved employee. The 
Council as an employer must provide a safe environment for employees to 
work within and Members conduct towards employees forms part of this 
environment. For the avoidance of doubt, shouting and swearing at 

Page 91



employees, whether in a group setting, in public or in one to one situation, is 
not acceptable in the workplace. 

 
It is proper for a member to make written or oral representations about a 
matter affecting a constituent who also happens to be an employee but 
he/she should avoid taking a proactive part or represent or act as an advocate 
on behalf of the employee in any disciplinary or grievance procedures brought 
against the Council by the employee.  

 
 
4.2  Members should not place inappropriate pressure on employees and must 

ensure that all communication between them (including both verbal and 
written communication) does not bring the Council into disrepute, cause any 
embarrassment to them, or lead to a breakdown of mutual trust, respect and 
courtesy in member/employee relations.  

 
4.3  In seeking advice and support, members should recognise that, whilst those 

employees owe an overriding duty to the Council as a whole, such duties are 
first expressed to their respective line managers and the Head of Paid Service 
and not to an individual member. For this reason, members should not give 
direct instructions to employees, unless they are authorised to do so by the 
Council’s constitutional arrangements. If so authorised, instructions should, 
under normal circumstances, still be given to a senior officer and not to a 
more junior employee.  

 
4.4  In particular, members and employees should promote equality by not 

discriminating unlawfully or otherwise against any person. They should treat 
people with respect, regardless of their age, disability, gender reassignment, 
race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, marriage and civil partnership 
and pregnancy and maternity. Such principles will apply equally to the 
implementation of personnel and other policies, recruitment and promotion as 
they apply to day to day dealings with members of the public.  

 
5. Mutual Respect and Courtesy  
 
5.1 Officers have a duty to all Councillors to give high quality professional advice, 

which must be politically impartial. 
 
5.2 For the effective conduct of Council business there should be mutual respect 

and courtesy in all meetings and contacts, both formal and informal, between 
Councillors and Officers. 

 
5.3 Officers and Councillors should, particularly in the public forum, be mutually 

supportive in order to minimise any potential embarrassment to the Council.  
Criticism of Officers should, wherever possible, be handled beyond the glare 
of public scrutiny – particularly the media which in extreme cases may lay the 
person open to challenge in the courts.  By the same token, Officers should 
never publicly criticise decisions taken by the Council or any of its 
committees. 

 

Page 92



5.4 National custom and practice has traditionally recognised that whilst there 
should be mutual respect between Councillors and employees, the 
development of close personal relationships is incompatible with their different 
roles.  It is undesirable that such relationships should be allowed to become 
so close or appear to be so close as to bring into question the Officer's ability 
to deal impartially with other Councillors and other parties. 

 
 In the event a Councillor and employee develop a close personal relationship, 

by way of example where a friendship extends beyond the confines of a 
working relationship and becomes social outside of working hours, advice 
should be taken from the Monitoring Officer as to whether this relationship 
should be declared in accordance with the provisions of the Officer Code of 
Conduct. 

 
 Where a family relationship exists or where a friendship was in place prior to 

the Councillor being elected or the employee commencing employment, this 
must be declared by the employee in accordance with the Officer Code of 
Conduct. 

 
 
6.  Relationships between Cabinet and Officers 
 
6.1  Any decision by the Cabinet must be supported by a written report by the 

appropriate employee. An employee’s obligation to the whole Council requires 
the advice to be tendered professionally and impartially and Cabinet Portfolio 
Holders should not seek to suppress or amend any aspect of such 
professional advice.  

 
6.2  Reports to the Cabinet will normally be produced by employees but there may 

be occasions when a Cabinet Portfolio Holder prepares a report. In either 
situation, the appropriate employee shall place on record his/her professional 
advice to the Cabinet and ensure that advice is considered when a decision is 
taken.  

 
6.3  As part of their duties, employees will represent (both internally and 

externally) the decisions of the Cabinet. Other members should recognise 
that, in doing so, an employee is representing an executive decision of the 
Council.  

 
 
 
7.  Relationships between Overview and Scrutiny and Officers  
 
7.1  Overview and scrutiny plays an important role within the Council in holding the 

Executive (Cabinet) to account and in the formulation of policy. The 
committees may seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer and the Chief 
Finance Officer where they consider there is doubt about the legality or 
financial probity of any decisions or prospective decisions of the Cabinet or 
where these may be contrary to the Council’s policy and financial framework.  

 

Page 93



7.2  When requiring employees to give evidence to an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, the Committee and its Chairman shall not, without the consent of 
a member of the Corporate Management Team, request the attendance of a 
junior employee. When employees are required to give evidence before an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, questions should be confined, so far as is 
possible, to questions of fact and explanation of any professional opinion 
relating to policies and decisions. Employees must respond to questions from 
members in an open, constructive and helpful manner. Employees must not 
be misleading or economical with the truth in their answers. The Chairman of 
an Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall ensure that Cabinet Members and 
employees are not questioned (whether through the nature, tone or language 
used) in such a manner as could be considered by a reasonable person to be 
hostile, offensive, derogatory, harassing, bullying, discriminatory or otherwise 
unacceptable or inappropriate.  

 
7.3  Where they consider it appropriate, the Chairmen of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee may ask the Head of Paid Service, Corporate Directors 
and Heads of Service to explain any advice given to the Cabinet or individual 
Portfolio Holders and explain any decision(s) that they may have taken under 
the Council’s scheme of delegation. Any private or confidential matter must be 
dealt with in a private or confidential manner.  

 
8.  Relationships between Other Committees and Officers 
 
8.1  Decisions made by other Committees etc. must be taken collectively, normally 

following the receipt and consideration of a report by the appropriate 
employee. Such advice will be independent and professional. Due to the 
nature of the business conducted by the Planning Committee, a separate 
Code of Good Practice for Planning has been approved by the Council.  

 
 Reports to other Committees will normally be produced by employees but 

there may be occasions when a Cabinet Member prepares a report. In either 
situation, the appropriate employee shall place on record his/her professional 
advice to that Committee and ensure that advice is considered when a 
decision is taken. 

 
9.  Relationships between Political Groups and Officers  
 
9.1  Political groups comprising members of an individual political party are a 

recognised feature of local government and it is common practice for such 
groups to give preliminary consideration to matters of business in advance of 
their consideration by a relevant Council body.  

 
9.2  Employees will not attend group meetings of the Council’s political parties.  
 
9.3  Employee support to members of political groups must not extend beyond 

providing information in relation to matters of Council business. When giving 
advice in such circumstances, employees must demonstrate political 
impartiality and must not suppress their professional advice in the face of 
political views. Employees must not champion, defend, action or spend any 

Page 94



resources of the Council on, or be held responsible for actioning in any way 
whatsoever, the decisions of a political group, unless and until such decisions 
have become the formal decisions of the Council and any consequential 
provision has been made in the Council’s Medium Term Plans and/or 
Revenue Budget.  

 
10.  Relationships between Individual Members and Officers 
 
10.1  The Leader, Deputy Leader, individual Portfolio Holder, Committee Chairman, 

Group Leader or such other members nominated by a Group Leader may 
request a briefing from the Head of Paid Service, Corporate Directors or 
senior officer on matters of policy which have already been or may be 
discussed by the Council or within its decision-making or advisory processes. 
All such requests should be addressed to the appropriate senior officer.  

 
10.2  Local members have an important role to play in representing the Council in 

their constituencies, responding to the concerns of their constituents, in 
meetings with partners and when serving on outside organisations. It is 
essential for the efficient functioning of the Council that members should be 
fully informed about matters on which they may be required to make decisions 
or which affect their wards. Senior Officers should ensure that all relevant staff 
are aware of the requirement to keep local members informed and that, as far 
as practicable, the timing of such information allows members to contribute to 
those decisions. Local members shall also be kept informed about matters 
affecting their wards during the formative stages of policy development. 
Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a local 
issue, all of the members representing the ward(s) affected should, as a 
matter of course, be invited to the meeting.  

 
10.3  Members will be asked by their constituents, from time to time, to pursue 

matters on their behalf. Where such matters affect the Council, a member 
may request information or advice from the appropriate employee and such a 
request should only be refused if a member cannot demonstrate a ‘need to 
know’ – see paragraph 12.2 and reference the Members’ Protocol on Data 
Protection 3.1.1. Such action is without prejudice to the right of a member to 
raise an item at any meeting of the Cabinet or another committee and 
particularly an Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 
11. Political Neutrality and Officers 
 
11.1 As individual Councillors, all Councillors have the same rights and obligations 

in their relationship with officers and should be treated equally. This principle 
is especially important in the context of overview and scrutiny. 

 
11.2 However, where a political group or combination of political groups have 

majority control of the Council, senior officers have a responsibility to assist 
the political administration of the Council in implementing their policies. Where 
this occurs it is recognised that the relationship between Officers, particularly 
those at a senior level of the Council, and the administration will differ from 
that with opposition groups. 

Page 95



 
11.3 Upon a change in political administration, Officers will serve the incoming 

administration in the same way as the outgoing, and will continue to respect 
any continuing political confidentiality except in so far as it adversely impacts 
on the operation of the Council. 

 
11.4 Officers, whether or not politically restricted, must not allow their personal or 

political opinions to interfere with their work.  This requirement for impartiality 
is all the more important in respect of an Officer who exercises regulatory 
functions in respect of the Council itself and is called upon to adjudicate 
between the Council and the Cabinet. 

 
12.  Access to Documents and Information  
 
12.1  A member’s right to access to documents and information is described in the 

Access to Information Procedure Rules in the Council’s constitution.  
 
12.2  In addition, a member has a right to inspect Council documents so far as 

his/her access to the documents is reasonable necessary to enable the 
Member properly to perform his/her duties as a member of the Council. This 
principle is commonly referred to as the ‘need to know’ principle. It applies 
equally to the leaders of political party groups who, although they may be able 
more readily to substantiate a requirement for information, still have to 
demonstrate that their request is proper and reasonable and give adequate 
reasons for requiring the information. Access to such information will vary 
from member to member and will arise at different times. As such, a 
Member’s ‘need to know’ will be considered on a case by case basis and will 
not last indefinitely.  

 
12.3  The right of access to information is subject to an additional safeguard and if 

the motive of the member in requesting to see documents is indirect, improper 
or ulterior, a request to inspect documents will be refused. Furthermore the 
law does not entitle a member to go on a ‘roving or fishing expedition’ or to 
receive every working document that employees have access to or may have 
had access to in the past.  

 
12.4  A Member is only entitled to see those documents that are relevant 

background papers mentioned in any report to a meeting or which are to be 
taken into consideration in the making of an executive decision by the Cabinet 
or a Key Decision by an employee or where information would be available 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. However, an overview and 
scrutiny committee may request information that is exempt or confidential if it 
relates to a matter that they are scrutinising.  

 
12.5  Confidential information that is obtained by a member must not be disclosed 

to another person. Any such breach of confidence may result in a complaint to 
the Monitoring Officer or, if sufficiently serious, to a civil action against the 
member and/or the Council for damages. Reference should be made to the 
Members’ Protocol on Data Protection. 

 

Page 96



12.6 Briefing meetings, where discussion of draft papers is involved, are not open 
to other councillors or the public as they are not available under the Freedom 
of Information Act. 

 
12.7 Both Members and Officers are subject to the requirements of the Data 

Protection Act and where Members request personal information relating to 
individuals, reference should be made to the Member Data Protection 
Protocol. 

 
13.  Relations with the Media  
 
 Officers 
 
13.1 Only Officers authorised by the Chief Executive, their Corporate Director or 

Head of Service to do so may talk to the press, or otherwise make public 
statements on behalf of their service area.   Generally speaking, an employee 
contacted by the press should refer the matter to their Corporate Director or 
Head of Service who will deal with it as appropriate. 

 
13.2 Officers authorised under paragraph 13.1 may comment on matters which are 

the subject of delegation, but will need to exercise judgement and integrity in 
making such comment.  Representatives of the press must be requested to 
seek political comment from the Leader or Deputy Leader of the Council or 
the appropriate Cabinet Portfolio Holder or Chairman of the appropriate 
Committee. 

 
13.3 When preparing draft press releases the appropriate Cabinet Portfolio Holder 

and/or Ward Members (where appropriate) will normally be approached for 
comments. 

 
13.4 Information published on the Council’s behalf must comply with the statutory 

Code of Practice, i.e. be objective, balanced and non-party political. 
  

Members 

13.5 The Council’s adopted Communication Policies provides as follows:- 
 

 The Leader of the Council is the lead spokesperson for those 
communications activities identified as corporate communications 
areas. As the principle spokesperson for the Borough, the Leader may 
also choose to take a lead in the media on major corporate 
announcements even when they are usually matters for Cabinet 
Members to comment on, for example on a large scale leisure 
investment announcement. 
 

 Cabinet Portfolio Holders are the lead spokespeople for service related 
media activity. As such they will be the quoted spokesperson for issues 
within their remit. 
 

Page 97



 Where it is inappropriate for legal, or other reasons, for an elected 
Member to act as spokesperson it may be necessary for the Chief 
Executive, or another officer to act as the spokesperson. 
 

13.6 When dealing with the press not in their capacity as a nominated 
spokesperson for the Council, Members will endeavour to ensure the press 
are both aware and give clear pointed acknowledgment of the fact that they 
are acting in their own capacity and not as a spokesperson for the Council. 

 
13.7 From six weeks prior to full elections, no Council publicity will be produced 

with names of individual Members of the Council other than the Mayor in his 
or her official capacity, throughout the period until the publication of the 
election results. This is the period of time known as Purdah. 

 
14. Enquiries and Access to Service Areas and Property  
 
14.1 As a general rule, a Councillor’s first port of call for advice on routine matters 

should be the relevant Head of Service or Line Manager.  Only in those cases 
where the Councillor is dissatisfied with the response should the relevant 
Corporate Director be approached.  Under normal circumstances Councillors 
should refrain from approaching junior members of staff to seek advice, 
information or to ask for work to be carried out. Councillors have a position of 
authority within the Council and junior employees may not be aware of all 
appropriate rules and guidance in releasing information or undertaking work 
requested and may feel they are unable to say “no” leading to possibility of 
undue influence being exerted. 

 
14.2 In the interests of operational efficiency, where possible, Councillors should 

make advance appointments to visit departments (excluding Member 
Support) or Council facilities in order to reduce disappointment if an Officer is 
not available.   Care should be taken as unnecessary presence in offices may 
create Data Protection issues or impact on the ability of employees to 
undertake their work – particularly in the larger open plan offices. Reference is 
made to the Members’ Protocol on Data Protection paragraph 3.1.3 

 
14.3 Unless authorised by the appropriate Committee, a Councillor must not claim 

to exercise any right of the Borough Council to inspect or enter any property 
(whether Council or private) or gain access to Council information systems 
etc.  For the avoidance of doubt, this provision does not preclude Councillors 
from undertaking site inspections, familiarisation visits or tours of Council or 
private facilities where appropriate arrangements have been made in advance 
with the relevant Corporate Director or Head of Service. 

 
15.  Support Services  
 
15.1  Members are provided with a range of information and support services to 

assist them in their policy and representative roles. Members should not use 
such information and support in connection with party political or campaigning 
activity or for purposes not related to Council business.  

 

Page 98



15.2 Administrative support is provided to enable members to carry out their official 
duties and roles as Councillors effectively.  These services can be accessed 
via the Civic & Member Services Officer who also provides a research facility 
and co-ordinates attendance at training courses, seminars, external meetings 
etc as required.   

 
15.3 Some limited support will also be provided for ward surgeries including the 

design and production of posters and notices.  Accommodation costs 
associated with the provision of ward surgeries will be reimbursed to a 
maximum of £50 per Councillor in any one financial year upon production of 
appropriate receipts. 

 
15.4 Councillors are expected to comply with the specific guidance on computer 

security and data protection issued by the Council’s IT Section from time to 
time and reference is made to the Members’ Protocol on Data Protection. 

 
 
16. Representation on External Organisations  

16.1 The Borough Council has a wide range of contacts within the community 
through appointments to external organisations, both locally and regionally.  
These are a resource to be employed in the Council's best interests. 

 
16.2 Appointments are made by either full Council or the Cabinet.  These are 

usually made on an annual basis, unless the constitution of the organisation 
concerned states otherwise. 

 
16.3 All appointments are subject to the requirement that the Member concerned 

must resign from the membership of an external organisation immediately 
upon ceasing to be a Member of this Council, where he/she has been 
appointed to that organisation as one of the Council's representatives, unless 
the Council agrees to their continuing. 

 
16.4 Councillors should familiarise themselves with the Boston Members’ Code of 

Conduct, particularly the requirement to comply with the Council’s Code when 
acting for that body, except and insofar as it conflicted with any lawful 
obligations to which that body may be subject, and the need to declare an 
interest when an item involving that body is considered by the Council, 
Cabinet, Standing Committees and Working Groups. 

 
 
17. Council Tax Arrears 
  
17.1 A Councillor who has not paid an amount due in respect of Council Tax for at 

least two months after it has become payable, may not vote on matters 
concerning the level of Council Tax or the administration of Council Tax.  If 
present at a meeting, he/she must disclose the fact that the provision applies 
to him/her.  He/she may, however, speak.  Non-compliance is a criminal 
offence. 

 
 

Page 99



16.  Arbitration  
 
16.1  Where necessary, the Head of Paid Service (or in their absence the 

Monitoring Officer) will arbitrate on the interpretation of this protocol. 
 
16.2 Any breach of this Protocol that is considered to have also breached the 

Member Code of Conduct, and will be dealt with in accordance with the 
provisions of the Boston Member Code.  

 
 
Members Obligations to Understand the Requirements of this Protocol 
 
The Council will provide opportunities for training and Member development through 
the Councillor Development Group. 
 
If a Member does not understand the meaning of the requirements of this Protocol, it 
is their personal responsibility to raise directly with the Monitoring Officer, their Group 
Leader or Chairman of the Councillor Development Group to ensure the appropriate 
training is identified and offered. 
 

Page 100



 
 

 

Members’ Protocol on Data Protection 
 
1.0 Introduction  

 
This document provides the framework for Members on those parts of the 
Data Protection Act (DPA) which directly affect them in the course of their 
duties and must be followed at all times. 
 

2.0 The Data Protection Act 
 

2.1 The Data Protection Act 1998 came into force on 1st
 

March 2000. The Act 
regulates the ways that organisations (data controllers) collect, store and 
process personal data.  

 
These regulations apply to all automated systems including computers, 
CCTV, tape recording, e-mail, photographs and, from 24th October 2001, 
many paper-based and other manual filing systems.  
 
The Data Protection (Processing of Sensitive Personal Data) (Elected 
Representatives) Order 2002 amended the existing provision to facilitate the 
processing of “sensitive personal data” by Elected Representatives in some 
circumstances. 

 
2.2 The Data Protection Act 2018 incorporates the provisions of the Europe wide 

General Data Protection Rules (GDPR), Law Enforcement Directive and local 
derogations to the GDPR.   
 
The GDPR further strengthens the rights of individuals (data subjects) to 
access their personal data records and have any mistakes corrected. 
 

2.3 This protocol will refer to the definitions due to be enacted in the Data 
Protection Act 2018, which will comply with the GDPR. 

 
2.4 “Personal data” means any information relating to an identified or identifiable 

natural person (‘data subject’); an identifiable natural person is one who can 
be identified, directly or indirectly, in particular by reference to an identifier 
such as; 

 a name 

 an identification number 

 location information 

 an online identifier  

 or to one or more factors specific to the physical, physiological, 
genetic, mental, economic, cultural or social identity of that 
natural person; 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 5 

Page 101



 
 

2.5 “Special Category” or previously “Sensitive Personal Data” is personal data 
revealing; 

 

 racial or ethnic origin 

 political opinions 

 religious or philosophical beliefs 

 trade union membership 

 the processing of genetic data, biometric data for the purpose of 
uniquely identifying a natural person 

 information concerning health 

 information concerning a natural person’s sex life or sexual orientation.  
 

2.6 The DPA imposes a number of controls in relation to personal data. The main 
controls are:  

 
(a) Personal data may not be “processed” except in accordance with the 

provisions of the DPA.  
 

“Processing” being a very wide term which includes almost anything 
that can be done with data.  

 
In addition to activities such as organising, adapting and altering the 
data, “processing” includes such basic activities as obtaining, deleting, 
holding or even merely reading the data.  

 
Stricter conditions for processing apply in the case of “special category” 
personal data.  

 
(b) Processing of personal data may only be carried out by registered Data 

Controllers.  
 

The Council has registered its activities with the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (ICO) and can therefore process personal data 
as a Data Controller. 

 
Members must be registered with the ICO for the purposes of their 
constituent activities. 

 
(c) Data must be handled in accordance with the Data Protection 

principles which are set out in the Act. Specifically the Lawfulness of 
Processing should be tested and documented.  
 
i) Subject has given consent to the processing; 
ii) Processing is necessary for the performance of a contract; 
iii) Processing is necessary to comply with a legal obligation; 
iv) Processing is necessary to protect the vital interests (life or 

death) of the subject or other person; 
v) Processing is necessary for the performance of a task in the 

public interest or with official Authority; 
vi) Processing is for legitimate interests of the Controller. 

Page 102



 
 

 
(d) The DPA sets out a number of Rights of Individuals who are the 

subject of any personal data (“Data subjects”). For example, a right of 
access to the information held about them by a data controller 
(“Subject access”).  

 
(e) One of the most important aspects of the DPA is that it imposes strict 

controls in relation to the disclosure of personal data to third parties. 
 
3.0 Implications for Elected Members  

 
3.1 Although elected members will not be “data controllers” in respect of data held 

for the purposes of Council business, personal information which is protected 
by the provisions of the DPA may come into their possession in the course of 
their duties as councillors. The following guidance is offered in this regard: 

 
3.1.1 Am I entitled to see personal data held by the Council?  

 
Council officers may release the information to you, as “elected 
members” are specified in the Council’s registration details (see 
paragraph 2.3(b) above) as a class of persons to whom personal 
information will be disclosed.  

 
Before releasing any information to you, however, the officer dealing 
with your request will ask you the purpose for which the information is 
required and assure themselves that the use of the information is 
legitimate in terms of assisting you with your committee, portfolio or 
constituency role as a Councillor.  

 
If the information is not essential to enable you to carry out your duties 
and the person who is the data subject has not given their consent for 
the information to be disclosed to you, you will not be allowed access 
to the information in question.  

 
There are some situations where obtaining a person’s information 
without consent may be possible.  This would be tested on a case by 
case basis. 
 

3.1.2 If I am given access to personal data, can I disclose it to any other 
person?  

 
You may disclose the information to the individual to whom it relates to. 
However, this is provided that it does not contain personal data from 
which any third party can be identified directly or indirectly, if that third 
party has not consented to the disclosure.  
 
It is important to remember that personal data relating to an individual 
must not be disclosed by you to any other person without the consent 
of the individual concerned. This would be considered an unlawful 
disclosure. 

Page 103



 
 

 
Members must not forward council emails containing personal data to 
other email accounts, including both personal email accounts or third 
party email accounts without understanding who has access to those 
email accounts, for what purpose the email is being sent and whether 
consent is required. 
 

3.1.3 When in the Council Offices 
 

The Council has recently updated the office environment of the Council 
offices and now, many more staff are located on large open plan 
offices.   

 
Members may from time to time have cause to speak to officers who 
are at their desks. Members may inadvertently have access to several 
strands of information including but not limited to; 

 
 Information on computer screens 
 Information from officers discussing an on-going live case 
 Information relating to a person that may be personal or special 

category information 
 

Members must avoid looking at Officers’ computer screens and must 
not use or repeat information they have inadvertently heard during the 
course of their legitimate visit to the offices. 

 
3.1.4 What are the consequences of unlawful disclosure?  

 
If you do disclose such information to a third party without consent, 
there are three possible consequences:  

 
(a) You may have compromised an individual’s privacy, causing 

damage or distress.  This may result in a personal claim against 
you or the council.  In some cases this has previously resulted in 
loss of life for a data subject as a result of an information 
breach; 

 
(b) You may have committed an offence under the Data Protection 

Act for which you may be prosecuted in either the Magistrates’ 
Court or the Crown Court. Upon conviction in the Magistrates’ 
Court, you would be liable to a fine of up to £5,000. In the Crown 
Court, the maximum penalty is an unlimited fine; 

 
(c) You would be in breach of the Code of Conduct for Members of 

the Council, which states that a member “must not disclose 
information given to him in confidence by anyone, or information 
acquired which he believes is of a confidential nature, without 
the consent of a person authorised to give it, or unless he is 
required by law to do so”. Any member acting in breach of the 

Page 104



 
 

Code of Conduct may be the subject of a report to a panel of the 
Audit and Governance Committee. 

 
4.0 Members as Data Controllers  

 
4.1 As previously mentioned, elected members will not be “data controllers” in 

respect of data held for the purposes of Council business. It will invariably 
be Council officers who control the processing of data held for such purposes.  

 
Any proposed use of the data by members, other than that detailed when 
requesting information, must be cleared with the relevant Council officer.  

 
Members can of course access personal data with the consent of the data 
subject e.g. when acting on behalf of a citizen in their ward.  

 
4.2 It may, however, be the case that members maintain their own computerised 

records containing personal data (e.g. address lists) for their own use. If the 
data is held for personal, family or household purposes, there is no 
requirement for a member to register themselves as a data controller with the 
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO). 

 
4.3 However, if the data is held or used for the purpose of constituency casework 

or for canvassing political support amongst the electorate, formal notification 
must be made to the Office of the Information Commissioner under the 
provisions of the Data Protection Act.  

 
4.4 When you are campaigning for election or otherwise acting on behalf of a 

political party you should be covered by the notification of the Party to whom 
you belong, but check with your constituency Chairperson or Secretary.  
 
Any Member who considers that they may be affected in this way should seek 
further advice from:-  
 

Office of the Information Commissioner 
Wycliffe House 
Water Lane 
Wilmslow 
Cheshire 
SK9 5AF 
Tel: 01625 545745  
e-mail: data@dataprotection.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 105



 
 

5.0 Enquiries from Constituents  
 

5.1 It is, of course, the case that individuals may make their own request under 
the Data Protection Act for disclosure of personal information held on them by 
the Council. If you are approached by a constituent who merely wants sight of 
such information, you should advise them to make a request for this in writing, 
to:-  

 
The Data Protection Officer  
Boston Borough Council 
Municipal Buildings 
West Street 
Boston 
PE21 8QR 
 

6.0 Responsibilities to Report 
 

6.1 A personal data breach may, if not addressed in an appropriate and timely 
manner, result in physical, material or non-material damage to natural 
persons such as loss of control over their personal data or limitation of their 
rights, discrimination, identity theft or fraud, financial loss, damage to 
reputation, loss of confidentiality of personal data protected by professional 
secrecy or any other significant economic or social disadvantage to the 
natural person concerned. 
 

6.2 It is every elected member’s responsibility to take privacy of personal 
information seriously.  The potential for an unlawful disclosure, and personal 
data breach must be reported as soon as possible to the Councils Data 
Protection Officer to comply with the statutory obligation to inform the ICO 
within 72 hours. 
 

6.3 A “personal data breach” is when information may have processed by persons 
not expressly permitted to have access to that information.  
 

6.4 Examples include:  
 

a) A misdirected email; 
b)  A letter sent to the wrong address; 
c) Loss of a PC/tablet/mobile phone containing personal data; 
d) Notes of meetings lost; 
e) Overheard conversations regarding subjects. 

 
6.5 Failure to notify the ICO within 72 hours would seriously affect the Council’s 

position should the ICO make a determination against the Council. 
 
 
 

  

Page 106



 
 

 
7. Members Obligations to Understand the Requirements of this Protocol 
 
7.1 The Council will provide opportunities for training and Member development 

through the Councillor Development Group. 
 
7.2 If a Member does not understand the meaning of the requirements of this 

Protocol, it is their personal responsibility to raise directly with the Monitoring 
Officer, their Group Leader or Chairman of the Councillor Development Group 
to ensure the appropriate training is identified and offered. 

 
 
Relevant Legislation affecting this Protocol 
 
 

Legislation: 
The Data Protection Bill 2018 

The General Data Protection Regulations  (EU) 2016/679  

The ‘Law Enforcement Directive” - EU Data Protection Directive 2016/680 

Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport - Data Protection Bill (2018) 

The Data Protection Act 1998 

Data Protection (Processing of Sensitive Personal Data) (Elected Representatives) Order 2002 

 
The Council’s Monitoring Officer may update this protocol from time to time following 
developments in guidance from the Information Commissioner’s Office, case law and 
any changes to legislation. 
 
Protocol prepared on the 15/3/2018. 
 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A. MINUTES
	1 COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME
	2 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES
	Minutes

	3 REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES
	Appendix 1 Returning Officer's Proposals

	4 MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT ARRANGEMENTS
	Appendix 1.  Proposed Terms of Arrangements for Standards Sub Committee
	Appendix 2. Arrangements for dealing with Standards Complaints
	Appendix 2a. Code of Conduct Complaints Flowchart
	Appendix 3. Member Code of  Conduct
	Appendix 4. Draft Revised Member Employee Protocol
	Appendix 5. Draft Member's Data Protection Protocol


